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PART 1. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. Financial Statements

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended

Six Months Ended

(in thousands, except per share data) June 30, July 1,
2002 2001
Net sales $186,828 $170,738
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of goods sold 140,662 125,255
Marketing and administrative
expenses 19,357 18,800
Restructuring costs - 3,403
Research and development
expenses 5,825 6.096
Income from operations 20,984 17,184
Non-operating deductions, net 1.021 2,169
Income before provision for taxes
on income and minority interests 19,963 15,015
Provision for taxes on income 5,599 4,327
Minority interests 367 347
Net income $ 13,997 $ 10,341

Earnings per share:

Basic $ 068 $ 053

Diluted $ 067 $ 052
Cash dividends declared per common share $ 0.025 $ 0.025
Shares used in the computation of earnings per share:

Basic 20,457 19,564

Diluted 20,973 19,969

See accompanying notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

June 30, July 1,
2002 2001
$365,828 $334,713
274,086 245,731
37,793 36,926
- 3,403
11,529 11,983
42,420 36,670
2.959 4.060
39,461 32,610
11,234 9,784
687 827
$ 27,540 $ 21,999
$ 1.36 $ 1.12
$ 1.33 $ 1.10
$ 0.050 $ 0.050
20,221 19,674
20,768 20,016



MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS
(thousands of dollars)

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, less accumulated
depreciation and  depletion - June 30, 2002 - $544,108;
December 31, 2001 - $509,288
Goodwill
Other assets and deferred charges
Total assets

June 30,
2002*

$ 19,256
145,949
76,588
29,162
270,955

537,166
44,720
20.270

$873,111

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Short-term debt
Current maturities of long-term debt
Accounts payable
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities

Long-term debt
Other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

Shareholders' equity:
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Less treasury stock
Total shareholders' equity

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

* Unaudited
** Condensed from audited financial statements.

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

$ 30,000
1,565
40,857
46.696
119,118

87,626
91,894
298,638

2,692
189,683
653,535
(40.829)
805,081
230.608
574.473

$873,111

December 31,

2001*

$ 13,046
125,289
77,633
30.822
246,790

536,339
43,506
21.175

$847,810

$ 71,497
437
37,705
50.890
160,529

88,097
91,365
339,991

2,596
158,559
627,014
(55.295)
732,874
225,055
507.819

$847,810



MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)

Six Months Ended

(thousands of dollars) June 30, July 1,
2002 2001

Operating Activities

Net income $ 27,540 $ 21,999

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation, depletion and amortization 33,453 32,132
Write-down of impaired assets 750 -
Other non-cash items 5,019 1,620
Net changes in operating assets and liabilities 12,105) (13.142)
Net cash provided by operating activities 54,657 42,609

Investing Activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (18,294) (34,155)
Acquisition of businesses (11,600) (35,763)
Other investing activities, net - 5,241

Net cash used in investing activities (29,894) (64.677)

Financing Activities

Proceeds from issuance of short-term debt 68,919 138,797
Repayment of debt (110,635) (99,841)
Purchase of common shares for treasury (5,553) (14,730)
Proceeds from issuance of stock under option plan 28,958 861
Other financing activities (1.019) (982)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 19,330) 24,105
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and

cash equivalents 777 (1.214)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,210 823
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 13,046 6.692
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 19,256 $ 7,515
Interest paid $ 3,283 $ 4,128
Income taxes paid $ 8,891 $ 4,200

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



Note 1 -- Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with the rules
and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. Accordingly, certain information and footnote disclosures normally
included in financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles have been condensed or omitted. Therefore,
these financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto contained in the Company's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001. In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting solely of normal
recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the financial information for the periods indicated, have been included. The results for the
three-month and six-month periods ended June 30, 2002 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending
December 31, 2002.

Note 2 -- Inventories

The following is a summary of inventories by major category:

(thousands of dollars) June 30, December 31,
2002 2001
Raw materials $27,650 $28,541
Work-in-process 8,513 9,083
Finished goods 23,631 22,775
Packaging and supplies 16.794 17.234
Total inventories $76,588 $77,633

Note 3 -- Long-Term Debt and Commitments

The following is a summary of long-term debt:

(thousands of dollars) June 30, December 31,
2002 2001

7.49% Guaranteed Senior Notes Due July 24, 2006  $50,000 $50,000
Yen-denominated Guaranteed Credit Agreement

Due March 31, 2007 9,391 8,734
Variable/Fixed Rate Industrial

Development Revenue Bonds Due 2009 4,000 4,000
Economic Development Authority Refunding

Revenue Bonds Series 1999 Due 2010 4,600 4,600
Variable/Fixed Rate Industrial

Development Revenue Bonds Due August 1, 2012 8,000 8,000

Variable/Fixed Rate Industrial
Development Revenue Bonds Series 1999

Due November 1, 2014 8,200 8,200
Variable/Fixed Rate Industrial
Development Revenue Bonds Due March 31, 2020 5,000 5,000
89,191 88,534
Less: Current maturities 1,565 437
Long-term debt $87,626 $88,097
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MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 4 -- Earnings Per Share (EPS)

Basic earnings per share are based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per



share are based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period assuming the issuance of common shares
for all dilutive potential common shares outstanding. The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

Basic EPS June 30, July 1,  June 30, July 1,
(in thousands, except per share data) 2002 2001 2002 2001
Net income $ 13,997 §$ 10,341 § 27,540 $ 21,999
Weighted average shares outstanding 20,457 _19.564 20,221 _19.674
Basic earnings per share $ 068 $ 053 $ 136 $ 1.12
Diluted EPS

Net income $ 13,997 $ 10,341 $ 27,540 $ 21,999
Weighted average shares outstanding 20,457 19,564 20,221 19,674
Dilutive effect of stock options 516 405 547 342

Weighted average shares outstanding, adjusted 20,973 19,969 20,768 20,016

Diluted earnings per share $ 067 $ 052 $ 133 $ 1.10

Note 5 -- Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following are the components of comprehensive income:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

(thousands of dollars) June 30, July 1, June 30, July 1,
2002 2001 2002 2001
Net income $ 13,997 $ 10,341 $ 27,540 $ 21,999

Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments 18,454 (3,652) 14,911 (14,061)
Cash flow hedges:

Net derivative losses arising during the

period (250) - (222) -
Reclassification adjustment (189) - (223) -
Comprehensive income $ 32012 $ 6,689 $ 42,006 $ 7,938

The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of related tax, are as follows:

June 30, December 31,

2002 2001
Foreign currency translation adjustments  $(40,057) $(54,968)
Minimum pension liability adjustment (501) (501)
Net (loss) gain on cash flow hedges (271) 174
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  $(40,829) $(55,295)



MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 6 -- Segment and Related Information

Segment information for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2002 and July 1, 2001 was as follows:

Net Sales
(thousands of dollars) Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, July 1, June 30, July 1,
2002 2001 2002 2001
Specialty Minerals $127,700 $120,570 $252,015 $241,251
Refractories 59,128 50,168 113.813 93.462
Total $186,828 $170,738 $365,828 $334,713

Income from Operations

(thousands of dollars) Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, July 1, June 30, July 1,
2002 2001 2002 2001
Specialty Minerals $ 15,614 $ 11,836 $ 30,833 $ 25,729
Refractories _ 5370 5,348 11.587 10,941
Total $ 20,984 $ 17,184 $ 42,420 $ 36,670

Included in income from operations of the Specialty Minerals segment for the six months ended June 30, 2002, is a write-down of impaired
assets of $0.8 million. In the second quarter of 2001, a restructuring charge of approximately $3.0 million and $0.4 million was included in income
from operations for the Specialty Minerals segment and Refractories segment, respectively.

The following is a schedule of amortization expense related to goodwill by segment:

Amortization of Goodwill

(thousands of dollars) Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, July 1, June 30, July 1,
2002 2001 2002 2001
Specialty Minerals $ - $ 111 $ - $ 182
Refractories — _255 - _298

Total $ - $ 366 $ - $ 480

The carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment as of June 30, 2002 and December 31, 2001 was as follows:

Goodwill
(thousands of dollars) June 30, December 31,
2002 2001
Specialty Minerals $ 8,738 $ 8,038
Refractories 35,982 35,468

Total $ 44,720 $ 43,506



MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A reconciliation of the totals reported for the operating segments to the applicable line items in the condensed consolidated financial
statements is as follows:

(thousands of dollars) Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
Income before provision for taxes on June 30, July 1, June 30, July 1,
income and minority interests: 2002 2001 2002 2001

Income from operations for reportable segments $ 20,984 $ 17,184 $ 42,420 $ 36,670
Non-operating deductions, net 1,021 2,169 2,959 4,060

Income before provision for taxes on income $ 19,963 $ 15,015 $ 39,461 $ 32,610
and minority interests ====== ===== ====== ======

Note 7 -- Acquisitions

On February 6, 2002, the Company acquired from J.M. Huber Corporation of Edison, New Jersey a facility in Hermalle-sous-Huy, Belgium. The
facility is a merchant precipitated calcium carbonate plant, which has the capacity to produce approximately 60,000 tons of PCC annually. The
Company acquired this facility to accelerate the development of its European coating PCC program. The purchase price was $10.2 million, which
included acquisition costs and assumed liabilities. The terms of the acquisition also provide for additional consideration of $1.0 million to be paid if
certain volumes of coating PCC are produced and shipped from this facility for any six consecutive months within five years following the
acquisition. There were no amounts of the purchase price assigned to goodwill. The operations of this entity have been included in the Company's
financial statements since the date of the acquisition.

On April 26, 2002, the Company acquired the assets of Thermo Radiometrie Oy and all of the outstanding shares of Thermo Radiometrie K.K.
(collectively, Radiometrie). Radiometrie develops and manufactures a refractory lining monitoring system used to measure and monitor ceramic
refractory linings of steel converters and ladles. The purchase price was $1.4 million, which included acquisition costs and assumed liabilities.
There were no amounts of the purchase price assigned to goodwill. The operations of this entity have been included in the Company's financial
statements since the date of the acquisition.

Note 8 -- Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets." Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives will no longer be amortized, but instead reviewed for
impairment at least annually in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142. This statement also required an initial goodwill impairment
assessment in the year of adoption. The Company completed the initial impairment analysis. The analysis did not result in an impairment charge.

The carrying amount of goodwill was $44.7 million and $43.5 million as of June 30, 2002 and December 31, 2001, respectively. The net change
in goodwill since January 1, 2002 was primarily attributable to the effects of foreign exchange rates.

The following table reconciles previously reported net income as if the provisions of SFAS No. 142 had been in effect in 2001:

(thousands of dollars) Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, July 1, June 30, July 1,

2002 2001 2002 2001

Reported net income $ 13,997 $ 10,341 $ 27,540 $ 21,999
Addback: goodwill amortization - 220 - 288
Adjusted net income $ 13,997 $ 10,561 $ 27,540 $ 22,287




MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Acquired intangible assets subject to amortization as of June 30, 2002 and December 31, 2001 were as follows:

June 30, 2002 December 31, 2001
(millions of Gross Carrying Accumulated Gross Carrying Accumulated
dollars) Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Patents and
trademarks $ 5.8 $ 0.5 $5.0 $04
Customer lists 1.4 0.1 1.4 0.1
$ 7.2 $ 0.6 $6.4 $0.5

The weighted average amortization period for acquired intangible assets subject to amortization is approximately 16 years. Estimated
amortization expense is $0.4 million for each of the next five years through 2007.

Note 9 -- Accounting for Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company accounts for impairment of long-lived assets in accordance with SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets." SFAS No. 144 establishes a uniform accounting model for long-lived assets to be disposed of. This Statement also requires
that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may
not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to future net cash
flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its estimated cash flows, an impairment charge is
recognized in the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. During the first quarter of 2002, the
Company recorded a write-down of impaired assets of $750,000 for a precipitated calcium carbonate plant at a paper mill that has ceased
operations. Such charge is included in cost of goods sold for the first six months.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REVIEW REPORT

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Minerals Technologies Inc.:

We have reviewed the condensed consolidated balance sheet of Minerals Technologies Inc. and subsidiary companies as of June 30, 2002
and the related condensed consolidated statements of income and cash flows for the three-month and six-month periods ended June 30, 2002 and
July 1, 2001. These financial statements are the responsibility of the company's management.

We conducted our review in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. A review of
interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures to financial data and making inquiries of persons responsible for
financial and accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a
whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the condensed consolidated financial statements
referred to above for them to be in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 8 to the condensed consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted the provisions of
SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets."

We have previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the consolidated
balance sheet of Minerals Technologies Inc. and subsidiary companies as of December 31, 2001, and the related consolidated statements of
income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for the year then ended (not presented herein); and in our report dated January 22, 2002, we
expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying



condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2001 is fairly presented, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated balance
sheet from which it has been derived.

KPMG LLP

New York, New York
July 18, 2002

1"

ITEM 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Income and Expense Items
As a Percentage of Net Sales

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, July 1, June 30, July1,

2002 2001 2002 2001
Net sales 100.0%  100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of goods sold 75.3 73.3 74.9 73.4
Marketing and administrative expenses 10.4 11.0 10.3 11.0
Restructuring costs - 2.0 - 1.0
Research and development expenses _3.1 _3.6 _3.2 _36
Income from operations 11.2 10.1 11.6 11.0
Net income 7.5% 6.1% 7.5% 6.6%

Results of Operations
Three Months Ended June 30, 2002 as Compared with Three Months Ended July 1, 2001
Net sales in the second quarter of 2002 increased 9.4% to $186.8 million from $170.7 million in the second quarter of 2001.

Net sales in the Specialty Minerals segment, which includes the Precipitated Calcium Carbonate ("PCC") and Processed Minerals product lines,
increased 5.9% in the second quarter of 2002 to $127.7 million from $120.6 million in the prior year.

Worldwide net sales of PCC, which is used primarily in the manufacturing process of the paper industry, increased 5.8% to $103.3 million from
$97.6 million in the second quarter of 2001. Sales volume for PCC used for filling and coating paper increased 7%. This increase was primarily due
to the ramp-up of the ten new units of precipitated calcium carbonate capacity that were added in 2001. A unit represents approximately 30,000
tons of annual PCC production. Five of the additional units came from two new satellite plants the Company constructed, one at Great Northern
Paper Inc. in Millinocket, Maine, and the other at a paper mill owned by M-real Corporation at Alizay, France. The remaining five units came from
expansions at existing satellite PCC plants.

Net sales of the Specialty PCC product line, used in non-paper applications, declined 5.6% from the prior year. This decline was attributable
primarily to continued weak industry conditions and a more competitive environment in the calcium supplement market.

Net sales of Processed Minerals products increased 6.1% in the second quarter to $24.4 million from $23.0 million in the same period the prior
year.

Net sales in the Refractories segment increased 18.0% to $59.1 million as compared with $50.1 million in the prior year. The increase in sales
was the result of two acquisitions in 2001, the refractory business of Martin Marietta Magnesia Specialties, acquired in the second quarter of 2001,
and Rijnstaal B.V., a Netherlands-based producer of cored metal wires used mainly in the steel and foundry industries, acquired in the third quarter
of 2001.

Net sales in the United States in the second quarter of 2002 increased approximately 7% as compared with the second quarter of 2001. This



increase was primarily due to higher sales in the Refractories segment as a result of the aforementioned acquisitions. Foreign sales increased
approximately 13% in the second quarter of 2002 primarily due to increased sales in the Refractories segment, particularly in Europe.

Cost of goods sold was 75.3% of sales compared with 73.3% in the prior year. An increase in cost of goods sold occurred in both reporting
segments. Cost of goods sold for the Specialty Minerals segment increased primarily as a result of development activities for coating-grade PCC
associated with the acquisition of a PCC plant in Belgium, costs associated with the start-up of the Company's PCC plant in Alizay, France, and

an increase in trial activity related to the production of Synsil® products. Cost of goods sold for the Refractories segment increased due to
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changes in the product mix as a result of the acquisitions and increased development costs associated with new products and systems. In
addition, steel plant closures in North America continued to have an adverse effect on cost of sales.

Marketing and administrative costs were approximately 10.4% of sales compared with 11.0% of sales in the prior year. Although the
Company's sales and marketing staff increased as a result of the recent acquisitions, these costs were largely offset by the benefits of the prior
year's restructuring.

Income from operations increased 22.1% to $21.0 million, as compared with $17.2 million for the same period last year. Excluding the
restructuring charge recorded in the second quarter of 2001, operating income increased 2%. There was no amortization related to goodwill in the
second quarter of 2002. Amortization related to goodwill was $0.4 million in the second quarter of 2001. Excluding the prior year's restructuring
charge, operating income in the Specialty Minerals segment increased 5.2% to $15.6 million and represented 12.2% of its net sales. The
Refractories segment's operating income, excluding the prior year's restructuring charge, decreased 6.6% to $5.4 million and was 9.1% of its net
sales.

Non-operating deductions decreased due to lower interest rates and lower average borrowings.

Net income increased 35.4% to $14.0 million from $10.3 million in the prior year. Diluted earnings per share were $0.67 in the second quarter of
2002 as compared with $0.52 in the prior year.

On April 26, 2002, the Company acquired the assets of Thermo Radiometrie Oy and all of the outstanding shares of Thermo Radiometrie K.K.
(collectively, "Radiometrie"). The purchase price was $1.4 million, which included acquisition costs and assumed liabilities. Radiometrie develops
and manufactures a refractory lining monitoring system used to measure and monitor ceramic refractory linings of steel converters and ladles.

Several consolidations in the paper industry have taken place in recent years. Such consolidations concentrate purchasing power in the hands
of a smaller number of papermakers, enabling them to increase pressure on suppliers. This increased pressure could have an adverse effect on
the Company's results of operations in the future. In addition, these consolidations could result in partial or total closure of some paper mills at
which the Company operates PCC satellites. In particular, the Company's largest customer, International Paper Company ("IP"), decided during
2000 to reduce production capacity by closing four paper mills at which the Company has satellite PCC plants. These closed mills are located in
Mobile, Alabama; Lock Haven, Pennsylvania; Erie, Pennsylvania; and Oswego, New York. Sales to IP represented approximately 11.5% and
11.9% of consolidated net sales for the three-month and six-month periods ended June 30, 2002, respectively. In addition, during 2000 two paper
companies filed for bankruptcy protection and closed their paper mills in Plainwell, Michigan and Anderson, California, at which the Company had
satellite PCC plants.

Excluding the aforementioned plants that have been closed, there are two satellite locations at which contracts with host mills have recently
expired, although the Company continues to supply PCC at these locations. At one of these locations the Company hopes to reach agreement on
a long-term extension of the contract; however, there can be no assurance that these negotiations will be successful. At the other location the
customer, IP, has informed the Company that it intends to begin negotiations with alternative suppliers. The Company continues to supply PCC at
this location, and expects to continue to do so through 2003. IP has also informed the Company at the end of the second quarter that it will honor
all existing satellite contracts; however, it expects to negotiate with other suppliers at other satellite locations as the contracts for those locations
expire over the next several years, with the last contract expiring in 2010. That decision by IP increases the risk that some or all of these
contracts will not be renewed. The loss of a substantial amount of the Company's sales to IP would have a material effect on the Company's
results of operations and projected growth rate; however, because these contracts have various remaining terms, the full impact would not be felt
for several years.

In recognition of this increased risk, the Company has shortened the periods over which existing satellite plants at IP mills are depreciated.

The shortened depreciation schedule will reduce diluted eamings per share by approximately $0.04 per share for the second half of 2002, $0.08 per
share in 2003, 2004 and 2005, and $0.04 per share in 2006.
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2002 as Compared with Six Months Ended July 1, 2001
Net sales in the first half of 2002 increased 9.3% to $365.8 million from $334.7 million in 2001.
Net sales in the Specialty Minerals segment increased 4.4% in the first half of 2002 to $252.0 million from $241.3 million in the same period in

2001. Worldwide net sales in the PCC product line grew 4.5% to $206.2 million for the first six months of 2002. Net sales in the Processed
Minerals product line increased 4.1% to $45.8 million in the first half of 2002 from $44.0 million in the prior year.



On February 6, 2002, the Company purchased from the J.M. Huber Corporation of Edison, New Jersey a PCC manufacturing facility in
Hermalle-sous-Huy, Belgium for approximately $10.2 million. The acquisition of this merchant PCC plant, which has the capacity to produce
approximately 60,000 tons of PCC per year, will allow the Company to accelerate its European coating PCC program.

Net sales in the Refractories segment increased 21.8% to $113.8 million as compared with $93.4 million in the prior year. This increase was
attributable to the recent acquisitions in this segment.

Income from operations increased 15.7% to $42.4 million from $36.7 million in the first half of 2001. Excluding the restructuring charge,
operating income increased 5.9% in the first six months of 2002. Income from operations in the Specialty Minerals segment, excluding the prior
year's restructuring charge, increased 7.4% to $30.8 million and was 12.2% of its net sales. Income from operations in the Refractories segment,
excluding the prior year's restructuring charge, increased 2.2% to $11.6 million and was 10.2% of its net sales.

Non-operating deductions decreased due to lower net interest expense as a result of decreased borrowings and lower interest rates.

The Company's effective tax rate for 2002 was approximately 28.5%, compared with 30.0% in the prior year. The change in the effective tax
rate reflects differences in the expected geographic mix of profit by country for the year.

Net income increased 25.2% to $27.5 million from $22.0 million in 2001. Diluted earnings per common share increased 21% to $1.33 compared
with $1.10 for the first six months of 2001.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash flows in the first half of 2002 were provided from operations and proceeds from stock option exercises and were applied principally to fund
capital expenditures, to fund the aforementioned acquisitions, and to repay short-term debt. Cash provided from operating activities amounted to
$54.7 million in the first half of 2002 as compared with $42.6 million in the first half of the prior year. This increase was primarily attributable to
higher net income and an increase in non-cash items.

The Company has available approximately $110 million in uncommitted, short-term bank credit lines, of which $30 million was in use at June
30, 2002. The Company anticipates that capital expenditures, including acquisitions, for all of 2002 will approximate $70 million. The Company
expects to meet its financing requirements from internally generated funds, the uncommitted bank credit lines and, where appropriate, project
financing of certain satellite plants.

Prospective Information and Factors That May Affect Future Results

The Securities and Exchange Commission encourages companies to disclose forward-looking information so that investors can better
understand the companies' future prospects and make informed investment decisions. This report may contain forward-looking statements that set
out anticipated results based on management's plans and assumptions. Words such as "expects," "plans," "anticipates," "will," and words and
terms of similar substance used in connection with any discussion of future operating or financial performance identify these forward-looking
statements.
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The Company cannot guarantee that the outcomes suggested in any forward-looking statement will be realized, although it believes it has been
prudent in its plans and assumptions. Achievement of future results is subject to risks, uncertainties and inaccurate assumptions. Should known
or unknown risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, actual results could vary materially from those
anticipated, estimated or projected. Investors should bear this in mind as they consider forward-looking statements and should refer to the
discussion of certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions under the heading "Cautionary Factors That May Affect Future Results" in Exhibit 99 to
this Quarterly Report.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 143, "Accounting for
Asset Retirement Obligations." SFAS No. 143, effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002, addresses financial accounting and
reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible and long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. The Company
is currently analyzing this statement and has not yet determined its impact on the consolidated financial statements.

On July 30, 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 146, "Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities." This standard requires companies to recognize costs associated with exit or disposal activities when they are incurred rather than at
the date of a commitment to an exit or disposal plan. This statement is to be applied prospectively to exit or disposal activities initiated after
December 31, 2002.

Critical Accounting Policies

The Company's discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations is based upon the Company's consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The
preparation of these financial statements requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.

On an on-going basis, the Company evaluates its estimates and assumptions, including those related to revenue recognition, allowance for
doubtful accounts, valuation of inventories, valuation of long-lived assets, goodwill and other intangible assets, pension plan assumptions, income
taxes, depreciation, income tax valuation allowances and litigation and environmental liabilities. The Company bases its estimates on historical



experience and on various other assumptions that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that can not readily be determined from other sources. There can be no
assurance that actual results will not differ from those estimates.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are amortized over their useful lives. Useful lives are based on management's estimates of the period that the
asset can generate revenue, which does not necessarily coincide with the remaining term of a customer's contractual obligation for use of those
assets. Failure of a PCC customer to renew an agreement or continue to purchase PCC from the Company could result in an impairment of asset
charge at such facility and/or a revision of the useful life and accelerated depreciation of such asset.

See above under "Results of Operations - Three Months Ended June 30, 2002 as Compared with Three Months Ended July 1, 2001" for a
discussion of the Company's decision to shorten the periods over which existing satellite plants at International Paper Company paper mills are
depreciated.

For a detailed discussion on the application of these and other accounting policies, see the discussion of critical accounting policies in Item 7,

"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," and the "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies"
in the "Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements" in the December 31, 2001 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may affect the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows due to adverse
changes in market prices and rates. The Company is exposed to market risk because of changes in foreign currency exchange rates as measured
against the U.S. dollar and changes in interest rates. It does not anticipate that near-term changes in exchange rates will have a material impact
on its future earnings or cash flows. However, there can be no assurances that a sudden and significant decline in the value of foreign currencies
would not have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition and results of operations. Approximately 46% of the Company's
interest-bearing debt bears interest at variable rates; therefore the Company's results of operations would be affected by interest rate changes.
However, an immediate 10 percent change in interest rates would not have a material effect on the Company's results of operations over the next
fiscal year.

The Company does not enter into derivatives or other financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. When appropriate, the Company
enters into derivative financial instruments, such as forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps, to mitigate the impact of foreign
exchange rate movements and interest rate movements on the Company's operating results. The counterparties are major financial institutions.
Such forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps would not subject the Company to additional risk from exchange rate or interest rate
movements because gains and losses on these contracts would offset losses and gains on the assets, liabilities and transactions being hedged.
The Company had open forward exchange contracts to purchase $1.0 million of foreign currencies as of June 30, 2002. These contracts mature on
September 30, 2002 and December 27, 2002. The fair value of these instruments was an asset of $38,000 at June 30, 2002. The Company
entered into three-year interest rate swap agreements with a notional amount of $30 million that expire in January 2005. These agreements
effectively convert a portion of the Company's floating-rate debt to a fixed-rate basis. The fair value of these instruments was a liability of $490,000
at June 30, 2002.

PART Il. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. Legal Proceedings

On or about October 5, 1999, the Company was notified by the U.S. Department of Justice of an enforcement referral received from the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") regarding alleged violations by the Company's subsidiary Barretts Minerals Inc. ("BMI") of a state-
issued permit regulating pit dewatering and storm water discharge at BMI's talc mine in Barretts, Montana. The threatened federal enforcement
action duplicated in part a state enforcement action that was resolved in May 1999 through settlement and payment of a civil penalty of $14,000.
BMI entered into prefiling negotiations with the Department of Justice, and on April 8, 2002, a complaint was filed and a proposed Consent Decree
was lodged. The Consent Decree, which has been signed by the court in final settlement of this matter, includes a monetary penalty of $40,000 as
well as a supplemental environmental project near the Barretts site. Expenditures for the supplemental project are required to be at least $74,000.

On or about July 14, 2000, MTI, Specialty Minerals Inc. and Minteq International Inc. received from the Connecticut Department of
Environmental Protection ("DEP") a proposed administrative consent order relating to the Canaan, Connecticut site, at which both Minteq and
Specialty Minerals have operations. The proposed order would settle claims relating to an accidental discharge of machine oil alleged to have
contained polychlorinated biphenyls at or above regulated levels. The Company's employees immediately took steps to contain and clean up the
discharge and notified the Connecticut DEP and the U.S. EPA, as required by law. The proposed order also alleges certain violations of other
environmental regulations, including violations of the Canaan site's existing permit for discharge of stormwater, and of regulations governing the
management of underground storage tanks. The proposed order would require payment of a civil penalty of $420,605, remediation of certain
conditions at the site, and other injunctive relief. MTI and the other respondents dispute many of the factual allegations forming the basis of the
proposed order, and plan to contest them vigorously. There can be no assurance, however, that the Company will be successful in doing so, and
the amount of any civil penalty to be paid, and the cost of any remediation or other injunctive relief, remains uncertain.
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On May 1, 2002, the Company's subsidiary Minteq International Inc. settled the lawsuit captioned WEMCO, Inc. and Emil J. Wirth, Jr. v.
Minteq International Inc., which had been pending in the U.S. District Court for the Middle District of Pennsylvania. The lawsuit alleged breach of
contract and unjust enrichment in connection with a licensing arrangement. The settlement, which involves the payment of certain royalties by
Minteq International and a continuing business relationship between the parties, did not have a material effect on the Company's consolidated
financial position or results of operations.

The Company and its subsidiaries are not party to any other pending legal proceedings, other than routine litigation incidental to their
businesses.

ITEM 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K

a) Exhibits:
10 Minerals Technologies Inc. Retirement Plan, as adopted July 25, 2002.
15 Accountants' Acknowledgement.

99 Statement of Cautionary Factors That May Affect Future Results.

b) No reports on Form 8-K were filed during the second quarter of 2002.
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Article 1. The Plan

1.1 Background of Plan

Effective as of October 22, 1992, Minerals Technologies Inc. (the "Company") adopted the Minerals Technologies Inc. Retirement Annuity Plan
(the "Retirement Annuity Plan") for the purpose of providing pensions upon retirement from service to employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries and affiliates participating in the Plan. Members in the Retirement Annuity Plan accrued a retirement benefit for each year of
participation consisting of a percentage of the Member's compensation. Subsequent to its effective date, the Company amended the Retirement
Annuity Plan from time to time to make desired changes and to comply with various statutory and regulatory requirements that became effective
after the effective date.

Effective as of January 1 2002, the Company amended the Retirement Annuity Plan to provide that employees employed on or after January 1,
2002 will accrue benefits under a cash balance formula and that Members who were accruing benefits under the Retirement Annuity Plan on
December 31, 2001 generally will continue to accrue benefits under the career earmings benefit formula that was in effect on December 31, 2001.
In connection with such amendment, the name of the Retirement Annuity Plan was changed to the Minerals Technologies Inc. Retirement Plan
(the "Plan"), effective as of January 1, 2002.

The Plan, as hereinafter amended and restated, shall be effective as of January 1, 2002, except that certain amendments shall have other
effective dates as set forth in the Plan.

1.2 Applicability of Plan

Except as otherwise expressly indicated, the provisions of the Plan are applicable only to Eligible Employees in the employ of an Employer on and
after January 1, 2002. The Plan shall preserve all rights accrued and not forfeited by Members under the Plan as of December 31, 2001. Unless
the Plan specifies otherwise, the rights and benefits of any Employee who terminates employment prior to the effective date of the provisions of
this restated Plan shall be governed by the Plan provisions in effect at the time of such Employee's termination of employment.

1.3 Purpose of Plan

The Plan is intended to meet the requirements for qualification under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time
to time and the Trust established under the Plan is intended to be exempt from taxation as provided under Code Section 501(a). Certain provisions
contained in the Plan are intended to constitute "good faith compliance" pursuant to Internal Revenue Service Notice 2001-42 with the



requirements of the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001 ("EGTRRA").
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Article 2. Definitions

2.1 Definitions

Whenever used in the Plan, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below unless otherwise expressly provided.

(@) "Accrued Benefit" shall mean, as of any given date, the monthly amount of retirement income that would be payable in the form of a Single
Life Annuity commencing on the Member's Normal Retirement Date (or the Member's Severance from Service Date, if later), based on the value of
the Member's Cash Balance Account or, if applicable, the Member's benefit under the Career Earnings Formula as of such date.

(b) "Actuarial Equivalent" shall mean an equivalent amount determined on the basis of the following factors:
(1) Benefit Payable Under Cash Balance Formula.

(A) Inthe case of a benefit payable pursuant to Section 4.1(c), the amount payable in the form of a lump-sum
payment shall be equal to the value of the Member's Cash Balance Account as of the last day of the month prior to the
month in which distribution occurs.

(B) In determining the amount of a benefit payable in the form of a Single Life Annuity under Sections 2.1(a) and
6.3(c), actuarial equivalence as of any given date shall be determined by applying to the Member's Cash Balance
Account, valued as of the Annuity Starting Date, a factor determined on the basis of--

(i) an interest rate equal to the applicable interest rate (within the meaning of Code section 417(e)(3)),
determined for the full calendar month that is four months prior to the month in which the Annuity Starting
Date occurs; and

(i)  for all such benefits payable on an Annuity Starting Date that is on or prior to December 31, 2002,
the 1983 Group Annuity Mortality Table weighted 50 percent male; and for all such benefit payments
payable on an Annuity Starting Date that is on or after January 1, 2003, the 1994 Group Annuity Reserve
Table weighted 50 percent male, projected to 2002; or such other mortality assumption as shall be
prescribed by the Secretary of the Treasury, which assumption shall be based on the prevailing
commissioners' standard table described in Code section 807(d)(5)(A) used to determine reserves for
group annuity contracts issued on the date the determination is being made (without regard to any other
subparagraph of Code section 807(d)(5)).

(C) In determining the amount of a benefit payable in the form of an Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity
under Section 6.2 or under an optional form available to a Member under Section 6.3(d) or (e), actuarial
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equivalence as of any given date shall be determined by applying to the Member's Single Life Annuity as determined in
Section 2.1(b)(1)(B), valued as of the Annuity Starting Date, a factor determined on the basis of--

(i)  Aninterest rate assumption of 72% per annum; and

(i)  for all such benefits payable on an Annuity Starting Date that is on or prior to December 31, 2002,
the 1983 Group Annuity Mortality Table weighted 50 percent male; and for all such benefit payments
payable on an Annuity Starting Date that is on or after January 1, 2003, the 1994 Group Annuity Reserve
Table weighted 50 percent male, projected to 2002; or such other mortality assumption as shall be
prescribed by the Secretary of the Treasury, which assumption shall be based on the prevailing
commissioners' standard table described in Code section 807(d)(5)(A) used to determine reserves for
group annuity contracts issued on the date the determination is being made (without regard to any other
subparagraph of Code section 807(d)(5)).

(2) Benefit Payable Under Career Earnings Formula. In determining the amount of a benefit payable in the form of an
Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity under Section 6.2, or a Joint and Contingent Annuitant Option and/or Level Income
Option under Section 6.3, and for purposes of determining any adjustment to be made to a Member's Accrued Benefit under Section
6.4(b), actuarial equivalence as of any given date shall be determined using an interest rate assumption of 72% per annum and the
mortality table described in Section 2.1(b)(2)(B). In determining the amount of benefit payable in the form of a lump-sum payment
under Section 6.3(b) and for purposes of determining whether the cash-out provisions of Section 7.3 shall be applicable, actuarial
equivalence as of any given date shall be determined using--

(A) aninterest rate equal to the annual rate of interest on 30-year Treasury securities or the generally accepted
proxy therefor, in each case as specified by the Commissioner of the Internal Revenue Service for the full calendar
month four months prior to the month in which the Member retires; and

(B) for all such benefits payable on an Annuity Starting Date that is on or prior to December 31, 2002, the 1983
Group Annuity Mortality Table weighted 50 percent male; and for all such benefit payments payable on an Annuity
Starting Date that is on or after January 1, 2003, the 1994 Group Annuity Reserve Table weighted 50 percent male,



projected to 2002; or such other mortality assumption as shall be prescribed by the Secretary of the Treasury, which
assumption shall be based on the prevailing commissioners' standard table described in Code section 807(d)(5)(A)
used to determine reserves for group annuity contracts issued on the date the determination is being made (without
regard to any other subparagraph of Code section 807(d)(5)).
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(3) Maximum Benefit Limitations.

(A) Commencement Prior to Age 62; Adjustment for Certain Forms of Payment Under Section 8.2. In
determining the adjusted maximum benefit limitations under Section 8.3(b) (for benefits commencing before age 62) or
under Section 8.2 (for certain forms of payment), actuarial equivalence shall be based on whichever of the following
sets of actuarial assumptions result in the lower Retirement Benefit: (i) the assumed rate of interest and the mortality
table specified in Sections 2.1(b)(1) and 2.1(b)(2), as applicable, or (ii) a 5 percent assumed rate of interest and the
mortality table specified in Section 2.1(b)(2).

(B) Commencement After Age 65. In determining the adjusted maximum benefit limitations under Section 8.4 (for
benefits commencing after age 65), actuarial equivalence shall be based on whichever of the following sets of actuarial
assumptions result in the lower Retirement Benefit: (i) the assumed rate of interest and the mortality table specified in
Sections 2.1(b)(1) and 2.1(b)(2), as applicable, or (ii) a 5 percent assumed rate of interest and the mortality table
specified in Sections 2.1(b)(1) and 2.1(b)(2), as applicable.

(C) Top Heavy Factors. In determining present value under the top-heavy provisions of Article 13, actuarial
equivalence shall be based on the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation immediate annuity lump-sum factor, with
male and female factors equally weighted, as in effect three (3) months prior to the member's Severance from Service
Date and the mortality assumptions specified in Section 2.1(b)(2)(B).

Notwithstanding the foregoing limitations, the benefit determined under this subsection shall in no event be less than
the Member's Accrued Benefit as of July 1, 1995, determined by applying a 5 percent assumed rate of interest in lieu
of the applicable interest rate under Code section 417(e)(3), wherever the same appears in Section 2.1(b)(4)(A).

(c) "Affiliated Company" shall mean--

(1)  any corporation while it is a member of the same controlled group of corporations (within the meaning of Code section 414(b))
as the Company,

(2) any other trade or business (whether or not incorporated) while it is under common control with the Company within the
meaning of Code section 414(c),

(3) any organization (whether or not incorporated) during any period in which it (along with the Company) is a member of an
affiliated service group (within the meaning of Code section 414(m)), and

(4) any entity required to be aggregated with the Company pursuant to Code section 414(o) and the regulations thereunder;
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provided that, for purposes of Article 8 (regarding maximum benefit limitations), in determining common control under Code sections
414(b) and (c), the phrase "more than 50 percent" shall be substituted for the phrase "at least 80 percent" each place the latter
appears in Code section 1563 (and regulations thereunder) and in regulations under Code section 414(c).

(d)  "Annual Pay Credits" shall mean amounts credited to a Member's Cash Balance Account, in accordance with Section 4.1(d).
(e) "Annuity Starting Date" shall be defined as follows:

(1) Benefits Payable in the Form of an Annuity. In the case of benefits payable in the form of an annuity, Annuity Starting Date
shall mean the first day of the first period for which an amount is payable under the Plan.

(2) Benefits Payable in the Form of a Lump-Sum Payment. In the case of a benefit payable in the form of a lump-sum
payment, Annuity Starting Date shall mean the date on which all events have occurred which entitle the Member to such benefit, but
in no event earlier than the date that benefits become payable to the Member under Section 4.1, 4.2, 4.3, 4.4 or 6.5, whichever is
applicable.

(3) Administrative Delay. For purposes of subsection (1), if a benefit payment under the Plan has become payable to a Member
but distribution has not yet occurred solely for administrative reasons, the Member's Annuity Starting Date shall be deemed to have
occurred on the date such payment first became payable.

(f)  "Anniversary Year" shall mean (1) the twelve-month period following the date on which an Employee first begins his employment with the
Company or an Affiliated Company, as well as successive twelve-month periods thereafter, and (2) the twelve-month period following the date on
which an Employee returns to the employ of the Company or an Affiliated Company after incurring a One-Year Break in Service, as well as
successive twelve-month periods thereafter. No Anniversary Year shall be credited for purposes of vesting under Section 4.2(a) unless in such
Anniversary Year the Employee has completed 1,000 or more Hours of Service for the Company or an Affiliated Company.

(g9) "Associate Company" shall mean any Affiliated Company of which Minerals Technologies Inc. owns directly or indirectly at least 80% of
the issued and outstanding shares of stock, which, with the consent of Minerals Technologies Inc., adopts the Plan pursuant to the provisions of
Section 9.8 hereof, and, when action is required to be taken hereunder by an Associate Company, such action shall be authorized by its Board of
Directors.



(h) "Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity"” shall mean the annuity form of benefit payments described in Section 6.2.

(i) "Beneficiary" shall mean the person, persons or trust, or the Member's estate, designated under Section 6.6 to receive benefits under the
Plan after the Member's death.

(j) "Career Earnings" shall mean the Member's aggregate Earnings during his period of Creditable Service, except that:

(1)  if the Member was employed on April 1, 1998, the Member's Earings for each calendar year prior to 1998 shall be the average
of such Member's Earnings during the five consecutive calendar years prior to 1998 during which the Member rendered Creditable
Service which yield the highest average, provided such Member's Earnings are not reduced thereby; and

(2) if the Member was employed on July 1. 1995, but terminated employment prior to April 1, 1998, the Member's Earnings for
each calendar year prior to 1995 shall be the average of such Member's Earnings during the five consecutive calendar years prior to
1995 during which the Member rendered Creditable Service which yield the highest average; provided such Member's Earnings are
not reduced thereby; and

(3) if the Member was employed on October 22, 1992, but terminated employment before July 1, 1995, the Member's Earnings for
each calendar year prior to 1992 shall be the average of such Member's Earnings during the five consecutive calendar years prior to
1992 during which the Member rendered Creditable Service which yield the highest average, provided such Member's Earnings are
not reduced thereby; and

(4) in each case, only the Member's Earnings during his last 35 years of Creditable Service shall be counted; provided, however,
that, such a calculation shall not lessen such Member's Career Earnings below the result of a prior calculation.

(k) "Career Earnings Formula" shall mean the benefit formula described in Section 4.1(b).

() "Cash Balance Account" shall mean the notional account deemed to have been established for each Member for the purpose of determining
each Member's benefit under the Cash Balance Formula.

(m) "Cash Balance Formula" shall mean shall mean the benefit formula described in Section 4.1(c).

(n) "Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as in effect at the time with respect to which such term is used. A reference to a
provision of the Code shall, if such provision is amended, refer to the successor to such provision.

(0) "Company" shall mean Minerals Technologies Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any successor corporation and, when action is required to
be taken hereunder by the Company, such action shall be authorized by the Compensation and Nominating Committee or the Board of Directors of
the Company.

(p) "Creditable Service" shall mean the period of a Member's employment with the Company or an Affiliated Company that is used to
determine the amount of a Member's benefit under the Career Earmings Formula and whether a Member has a vested,
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nonforfeitable right to his Retirement Benefit on the Member's Severance from Service Date. Creditable Service shall be determined as follows:

(1)  Years of Creditable Service. A Member shall be credited with a year of Creditable Service for each Anniversary Year during
which he completes 1,000 or more Hours of Service; provided, however, that for purposes of calculating a Member's Retirement
Benefit under the Career Earnings Formula, Hours of Service earned by the Member with an Affiliated Company that is not an
Associate Company shall be disregarded in determining the Member's Creditable Service. No fractional years of Creditable Service
shall be credited to a Member, except for purposes of determining (A) the Primary Social Security Benefit offset amount pursuant to
Section 4.1(b)(2) and (B) a Member's Career Earnings and his eligibility for early retirement under Sections 4.2(b)(2)(A) and (B), in
which event the Member's Creditable Service shall be determined on the basis of the months of employment with an Employer during
the fractional Anniversary Year without regard to whether the Member completes 1,000 or more Hours of Service within such period.
For purposes of the preceding sentence, a month of employment will be credited with respect to the Member's first and last month of
employment with an Employer if the Member is employed for at least 15 days in each such month.

(2) “Prior Service" shall mean service rendered by a person who is in the service of an Employer before the date on which he
becomes a Member and who continues in service on and after the date he becomes a Member. Except as otherwise provided in
Section 4.1 and Section 9.8, Prior Service of a Member shall be included in the Member's Creditable Service.

(3) "Special Service" shall mean service rendered outside the United States by an Employee employed by a corporation which is
an Affiliated Company, but not an Associate Company, which service is rendered (1) before the date on which such Employee
becomes a Member; provided, that such Employee continues in service of the Company or an Affiliated Company on and after the
date he becomes a Member, or (2) subsequent to the date the Employee becomes a Member, provided that such employment is
uninterrupted and that the Member returns to the employment of an Employer immediately following such service. Special Service of
a Member shall be included in the Member's Creditable Service.

(4) Pfizer Plan Membership. Creditable Service shall include any service credited to a Member under the Pfizer Plan for a
Member who is employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries on October 22, 1992, and who was an active participant in the
Pfizer Plan immediately prior to such date.

(5) Other Company Service. Creditable Service shall include service with an employer other than an Employer or an Affiliate
which service is recognized as Creditable Service pursuant to Schedule E.



(a)

(6) Military Leave. An Employee who is absent from work with the Company or an Affiliated Company for voluntary or involuntary
service with the armed forces of the

United States shall be credited with Creditable Service for the time spent on active duty in the armed forces; provided that such
Employee returns to active service with an Employer within the time limits provided by law after their separation or discharge from
active duty from the armed forces, having satisfactorily completed their period of training and service. In the event an Employee who
would otherwise be credited with Creditable Service for the time spent on active duty in the armed forces except for such Employee's
failure to return to active service with an Employer pursuant to the preceding sentence shall nevertheless be credited with up to 501
Hours of Service for such period of military service. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, effective as of
December 12, 1994, contributions, benefits and service credit with respect to qualified military service will be provided in accordance
with Code Section 414(u).

(7) Leave of Absence. Interruption of active service on account of leave of absence authorized by an Employer shall not be
considered termination of service. Time spent on authorized leave of absence shall be credited for the purpose of computing length
of service and benefits payable under the Career Earnings Formula on the following basis: Members shall receive credit for each full
year spent on authorized leave of absence for each full year of Creditable Service that they render to an Employer following return to
active service, except that time spent on authorized leave of absence for medical reasons shall be credited without requirement of
subsequent Creditable Service and time spent on civic leave shall be credited upon return to active service.

(8) Effect on Creditable Service of Reemployment After Severance From Service Date. An Employee who is reemployed after
his Severance from Service Date shall have Creditable Service that was credited to such Employee prior to his Severance from
Service Date reinstated upon reemployment as follows:

(A)  If the Employee is reemployed before a One-Year Break in Service occurs, the Creditable Service the Employee
had at the time of his Severance from Service Date shall be reinstated upon the Employee's reemployment.

(B) If the Employee is reemployed after a One-Year Break in Service occurs, the Creditable Service the Employee
had at such One-Year Break in Service shall be disregarded if-

(i) the Employee was not vested as to any part of his benefit under the Plan prior to a One-Year Break
in Service, and

(i)  the number of consecutive One-Year Breaks in Service equals or exceeds the greater of five or the
aggregate number of years of Credited Service completed prior to such One-Year Break in Service;
provided, however, that the Creditable Service that such employee had prior to a One-Year Break in
Service shall not be disregarded pursuant to this subsection (ii) if the employee completes at least 24
consecutive months of Creditable Service following his reemployment.
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If a reemployed Employee does not forfeit his Creditable Service as provided above, solely for purposes of determining
his Career Earnings, the last calendar year in which he rendered Creditable Service shall be treated as being
consecutive with the first calendar year in which he renders Creditable Service after his reemployment.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes of determining a Member's Retirement Benefit under the Career Earnings

Formula, no Creditable Service shall be credited for any Anniversary Year subsequent to the date a Member who has

incurred a One-Year Break in Service is reemployed by an Employer if such reemployment occurs on or after January
1, 2002.

"Disability" shall mean the inability of a Member, who is participating in a long-term disability plan of an Employer, to perform his duties for

an Employer as a result of any bodily injury or disease or mental infirmity and for which the Member is receiving disability benefits under such
long-term disability plan. A Member who suffers a Disability shall be considered "Disabled" only during the period in which he is receiving disability
benefits under an Employer's long-term disability plan.

(r

"Disability Leave Status" shall mean the status of a Member who, for purposes of the Career Earnings Formula, has been determined to be

Disabled and who has completed at least five years of Creditable Service at the time his Disability began.

()

"Earnings."

(1) Items Included. Earings shall mean actual salary, wages, bonus (except as otherwise provided under Section 2.1(s)(2)), or
other remuneration earned by an Employee from an Employer for his service with an Employer, as determined by such Employer.
Earnings shall include pre-tax contributions under a cafeteria plan under Code section 125 or under a transportation fringe benefit
plan under Code section 132(f)(4), earnings from Pfizer to the extent that Pfizer has transferred the accumulated benefit obligation of
such person under the Pfizer Plan to the Company under the terms and conditions of the Reorganization Agreement between Pfizer
Inc. and Minerals Technologies Inc. dated as of September 28, 1992.

(2) Items Excluded. Eamings shall not include any part of the cost of any employee benefit (other than pre-tax contributions
under a cafeteria plan under Code section 125 or under a transportation fringe benefit plan under Code section 132(f)(4)), including
without limitation stock options, perquisites and group insurance, matching contributions under the Company's Savings and
Investment Plan, or of any expense reimbursement, including, without limitation, relocation costs, or of any remuneration received in
the form of salary continuance or lump-sum severance by an Employee while no longer providing services to the Company. No part
of any bonus or other remuneration forming part of the compensation of any Employee shall be used to determine benefits under the
Plan, if such bonus should cause such benefit to become discriminatory under the applicable provisions of the Code.



(3) Limitation on Amount. Unless otherwise specifically provided in the Plan, the annual Earnings of each Employee that may
be taken into account under the Plan shall not exceed the "applicable dollar amount" of an Employee's annual Earnings. For
purposes of this Section 2.1(s), the term "applicable dollar amount" means the maximum annual compensation limit which is (A)
$200,000 as adjusted for the cost of living in accordance with Code section 415(d) for Plan Years beginning before January 1, 1994,
(B) $150,000, as adjusted for the cost of living in accordance with Code section 401(a)(17)(B) for Plan Years beginning January 1,
1994 and ending December 31, 2001, and (C) beginning January 1, 2002, $200,000, as adjusted for the cost of living in accordance
with Code section 415(d). In determining the Earnings of a Member for purposes of the aforementioned limitations for Plan Years
beginning prior to January 1, 1997, if any individual is a member of the family of a 5-percent owner or of a Highly Compensated
Employee (as defined in Section 9.7(a)(2)) in the group consisting of the ten Highly Compensated Employees paid the greatest
compensation during the year, then (A) such individual shall not be considered a separate employee and (B) any Earnings paid to
such individual (and any applicable benefit on behalf of such individual) shall be treated as if it were paid to (or on behalf of) the 5-
percent owner or Highly Compensated Employee; provided, however, that the aforementioned term "family" shall include only the
Spouse of the Member and any lineal descendants of the Member who have not attained age 19 before the close of the year. If, as a
result of the application of the foregoing family aggregation rules, the applicable dollar amount is exceeded, then the limit shall be
prorated among the individuals in proportion to each such individual's Earnings as determined under this section 2.1(s) prior to the
application of the limit.

(t) "Effective Date" shall mean October 22, 1992.

(u) "Eligible Employee" shall mean a person who (1) is included in a group or class designated by the Company as eligible for membership in
the Plan and (2) is in the service of an Employer within the United States of America or is a United States citizen in the service of an Employer
outside of the continental limits of the United States of America. Eligible Employee shall not include any person who is included in a unit of
employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement that does not provide for the coverage of such person under the Plan if there is evidence
that retirement benefits were the subject of good faith bargaining. A person who is a United States citizen and who is employed outside the
continental limits of the United States of America in the service of a foreign subsidiary (including foreign subsidiaries of such foreign subsidiary) of
the Company shall be considered, for all purposes of the Plan, as employed in the service of the Company if (A) the Company has entered into an
agreement under Code section 3121(1) which applies to the foreign subsidiary of which such person is an employee and (B) contributions under a
funded plan of deferred compensation, whether or not a plan described in Code section 401(a), 403(a), or 405(a) are not provided by any other
person with respect to the remuneration paid to such individual by the foreign subsidiary. The groups and classes designated by the Company are
set forth in Schedule A.

10

(v) "Employee" shall mean any individual employed by an Employer or an Affiliated Company. The term Employee excludes any Leased
Employee. The term Employee shall also not include any person who performs services for an Employer under an agreement or arrangement
(which may be written, oral and/or evidenced by an Employer's payroll practices) with the individual or with another organization that provides the
services of the individual to an Employer, pursuant to which the person is treated as an independent contractor or is otherwise treated as an
employee of an entity other than an Employer, irrespective of whether the individual is treated as an employee of an Employer under common law
employment principles or pursuant to the provisions of Code section 414(m), 414(n), or 414(0).

(w)  "Employer" shall mean the Company and any Associate Company.

(x) "ERISA" shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as in effect at the time with respect to which such term is
used. A reference to a provision of ERISA shall, if such provision is amended, refer to the successor to such provision.

(y) "Hour of Service"

(1)  General Definition of Hour of Service. The term "Hour of Service" shall mean each hour for which the Employee is directly or
indirectly paid or entitled to payment by an Employer or an Affiliate--

(A) for the performance of duties,

(B) on account of a period of time during which no duties are performed (regardless of whether or not the
employment relationship has terminated) due to vacation, holiday, illness, incapacity (including Disability), layoff, jury
duty, military duty, or leave of absence, or

(C) for which back pay, irrespective of mitigation of damages, is either awarded or agreed to by an Employer or an
Affiliated Company;

provided, however, that no hour shall be credited as an Hour of Service under more than one of the preceding paragraphs.

(2) Maternity/Paternity Leave. In the case of Maternity/Paternity Leave, up to 501 Hours of Service shall be credited in the
Anniversary Year in which the Maternity/Paternity Leave begins, if the Employee would otherwise have incurred a One-Year Break in
Service in that Anniversary Year, otherwise up to 501 Hours of Service shall be credited in the following Anniversary Year to prevent
a One-Year Break in Service. Maternity/ Patemity Leave means an absence from work (A) by reason of the pregnancy of an
Employee, (B) by reason of the birth of a child of an Employee, (C) by reason of the placement of a child with the Employee in
connection with the adoption of the child, or (D) for the purposes of caring for the child during the period immediately following the
birth or placement for adoption.
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(3) Crediting Hours of Service - Equivalency Method. Each Employee shall be credited with Hours of Service on the basis of



an assumed 190 Hours of Service per month for each month for which the Employee would have received at least one Hour of
Service in accordance with this definition to the extent that it does not result in crediting Hours of Service more than once with
respect to any period.

(4) Special Rules for Determining Hours of Service. In the case of a payment which is made or due on account of a period
during which an Employee performs no duties, Hours of Service will be determined in accordance with Department of Labor
Regulations § 2530.200b-2(b) and (c).

(z) "Interest Credits" shall mean the amounts credited to a Member's Cash Balance Account in accordance with Section 4.1(e).

(@aa) "Leased Employee" shall mean any person (other than an Employee of the Company or an Associate Company) who pursuant to an
agreement between the Company or an Associate Company and any other person ("leasing organization") has performed services for the
Company or an Associate Company (or for the Company or an Associate Company and related persons determined in accordance with section
414(n)(6) of the Code) on a substantially full time basis for a period of at least one year, and such services are performed under the primary
direction or control of the Company or an Associate Company.

(bb)  "Normal Retirement Age" shall mean age 65 if the Employee commenced employment on or before July 31, 2002, or the later of the date
the Employee attains age 65 or completes five years of Creditable Service, if the Employee commences employment on or after August 1, 2002.

(cc) "Normal Retirement Date" shall mean the first day of the calendar month coinciding with or next following the date on which the Member
attains Normal Retirement Age.

(dd) "Member" shall mean an Employee or former Employee who has become a Member under Article 3. A Member shall continue to be a
Member as long as he has an undistributed beneficial interest in the Plan.

(ee) "One Year Break in Service" shall mean an Anniversary Year in which a Member is credited with 500 or fewer Hours of Service.
(ff)  "Pfizer Plan" shall mean the Pfizer Inc. Retirement Annuity Plan.

(9g) "Plan" shall mean the Minerals Technologies Inc. Retirement Plan, as set forth in this document and as amended from time to time.
(hh)  "Plan Year" shall mean the period beginning January 1 and ending December 31.

(i)  "Primary Social Security Benefit" shall mean the annual amount available to the Member at age 65, or later if the Member retires after age
65, under the Old Age Insurance provisions of Title Il of the Social Security Act in effect at his Severance from
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Service Date, without regard to any increases in the wage base or benefit levels that take effect after the date of termination of employment,
subject to the following:

(A) A Member's Primary Social Security Benefit shall be determined (1) with respect to the period prior to the Member's Severance
from Service Date, by applying a salary scale which is the actual change in average wages from year to year as determined by the
Social Security Administration, projected backwards, from the Member's Earnings for the calendar year in which the Member's
Severance from Service Date occurs (or the Member's Earnings during the calendar year immediately preceding the calendar year in
which the Member's Severance from Service Date occurs, if Earnings during such year are greater) and (2) in the event that the
Member's Severance from Service Date occurs prior to attainment of age 65, by assuming that the Member's Earnings as
determined in (1) will continue to be earned by the Member until age 65. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Member whose
Severance from Service Date occurs prior attainment of age 65 retires pursuant to Section 4.2(b), such Member's Primary Social
Security Benefit shall be estimated by assuming that the Member will not receive any income after retirement which would be treated
as wages for purposes of the Social Security Act.

(B) Notwithstanding the foregoing, actual salary history will be used to calculate the Primary Social Security Benefit if this will
result in a larger benefit under the Career Earnings Formula for the Member, but only if documentation of such history is provided by
the Member within two years after the later of his Severance from Service Date or the date the Member receives notice of his
benefits under the Plan.

(i) "Retirement Benefit" shall mean the benefit payment to which a Member is entitled under Section 4.1, 4.2, 4.3 or 4.4, whichever is
applicable.

(kk)  "Retirement Committee” shall mean those individuals designated by the Board of Directors of the Company to serve as Members of the
Retirement Committee.

(I "Severance from Service Date" shall mean the earlier of the following dates:
(1)  the date on which the Employee terminates voluntarily, retires, is discharged or dies; or

(2) the first anniversary of the first date of a period in which an Employee remains absent from the service of an Employer for any
reason other than voluntary termination, retirement, discharge or death, such as vacation, holiday, sickness, disability (other than a
condition that renders the Employee Disabled as defined in Section 2.1(q)), leave of absence (other than a leave granted for military
service) or lay-off; provided, however, that in the event an Employee shall quit, retire, die or be discharged prior to said first
anniversary, his Severance from Service Date shall be the first day of such period of absence unless the Employee shall return to
employment prior to such anniversary date.
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(mm)  "Single Life Annuity" shall mean an annuity providing equal monthly payments for the lifetime of the Member with no survivor benefits.

(nn)  "Spouse" shall mean the person to whom a Member has been legally married (as determined in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction
in which he resides) throughout the one-year period preceding the earlier of the Member's Annuity Starting Date or the date of the Member's death.

(00) "Trust Agreement" shall mean the agreement under which Plan assets are held and invested pursuant to Article 12 hereof.
(pp)  "Trust Fund" or "Trust" shall mean the trust fund established under Article 12 to hold the assets of the Plan.

(qq) "Trustee" shall mean the person or persons acting as trustee of the Trust Fund.

2.2 Gender and Number

Whenever applicable, the masculine gender, when used in the Plan, shall include the feminine or neuter gender, and the singular shall include the
plural.
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Article 3. Participation

3.1 Commencement of Participation

(@) Employees Who Were Members on December 31, 2001. Each Employee on December 31, 2001, who was a Member in the Retirement
Annuity Plan on such date shall be a Member in the Plan on January 1, 2002, provided he is then an Eligible Employee.

(b) Other Employees. Each other Employee shall become a Member on the first day on which the Employee is credited with an Hour of
Service, provided he is then an Eligible Employee.
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Article 4. Normal Retirement Benefit

4.1 Normal Retirement Benefit

(@) In General. A Member who attains Normal Retirement Age while employed by an Employer or an Affiliated Company shall be entitled to a
nonforfeitable benefit, calculated as a Single Life Annuity commencing on his Normal Retirement Date.

(b) Career Earnings Formula. The Career Earnings Formula shall be used to determine the Normal Retirement Benefit of each Member who
was an Employee of an Employer on December 31, 2001; provided, however, that, in the case of a Member who, following his Severance from
Service Date, is reemployed by an Employer on or after January 1, 2002, the Career Earnings Formula shall not be applicable with respect to the
Member's period of employment with an Employer which occurs subsequent to the date of the Member's reemployment. The benefit payable at the
Normal Retirement Date of an Employee under the Career Earnings Formula, shall be equal to the greater of--

(1) 1.4% of the Member's Career Earnings; or

(2) 1.75% of the Member's Career Earnings, less 1.50% of his Primary Social Security Benefit multiplied by his years of
Creditable Service, but in no event more than 35 years of Creditable Service.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise provided herein, each Section 401(a)(17) Member's Accrued Benefit under the Career Earnings
Formula will be the greater of the Accrued Benefit determined for such Member under (A) or (B) below:

(A)  the Section 401(a)(17) Member's Accrued Benefit determined with respect to the benefit formula applicable for
the Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1994, as applied to such Member's total years of Creditable Service
taken into account under the Career Earnings Formula for the purposes of benefit accruals, or



(B) the sum of:

(i) the Section 401(a)(17) Member's Accrued Benefit as of the last day of the last Plan Year beginning
before January 1, 1994, frozen in accordance with section 1.401(a)(4)-13 of the Treasury Regulations,
and

(i)  the Section 401(a)(17) Member's Accrued Benefit determined under the benefit formula applicable
for the Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1994, as applied to such Member's years of Creditable
Service for Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 1994, for purposes of benefit accruals.
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A "Section 401(a)(17) Member" means a Member whose current Accrued Benefit as of a date on or after the first day
of the first Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1994, is based on Career Eamings for a year beginning prior to
the first day of the first Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1994, that exceeded $150,000.

In the case of any group or class of Members, an Employer may limit the Prior Service of persons included in such
group or class to service rendered on and after a date to be determined by an Employer.

Except in the case of a person in the service of a corporation which becomes an Associate Company, the Prior
Service benefits of any Member who was absent from his Employer during all or part of the calendar year next
preceding the date he becomes a Member, because of sickness, Disability, service in the armed forces of the United
States, or like reasons beyond his control, and who entered the service of his Employer prior to such calendar year,
shall be computed by crediting to him as Earnings for such calendar year the following Earnings:

(I) all Earnings actually received by such Member in such calendar year before or after the period of
absence from his Employer, and

(II)  the Earnings he would have received in such calendar year during the period of absence based on
a forty-hour week at his straight-time rate of pay at the time of leaving his Employer and any increased
rate to which he would have been entitled as a result of automatic length-of-service increases or a
general increase, and any bonuses or other payments made in such calendar year during such period of
absence to which he would normally have been entitled.

(c) Cash Balance Formula. The Cash Balance Formula shall be used to determine the Normal Retirement Benefit of each Member whose
employment with an Employer commences on or after January 1, 2002. The Cash Balance Formula shall be also used to determine the Normal
Retirement Benefit of any Member who has incurred a One-Year Break in Service and who is reemployed by an Employer on or after January 1,
2002, with respect to the determination of such Member's Normal Retirement Benefit attributable to service occurring subsequent to his
reemployment date. Under no circumstances shall a Member accrue benefits under the Career Earmings Formula and the Cash Balance Formula
with respect to the same periods of Creditable Service. The benefit payable at the Normal Retirement Date of an Employee under the Cash
Balance Formula shall be equal to the sum of--

(1)  Annual Pay Credits pursuant to Section 4.1(d); and
(2) Interest Credits pursuant to Section 4.1(e).

(d) Annual Pay Credits. As of the last day of each Plan Year, an Annual Pay Credit shall be credited to the Cash Balance Account of each
Member whose benefit is determined under
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the Cash Balance Formula (including each such Member who retires, dies, or otherwise terminates during the Plan Year), who received Earnings
during such Plan Year. The Annual Pay Credit shall equal such Member's Earnings for such Plan Year multiplied by five percent (5%).

(e) Interest Credits. Interest Credits based on the amount of the Member's Cash Balance Account as of the first day of each Plan Year shall be
added to the Cash Balance Account of each Member whose benefit is determined under the Cash Balance Formula as of the last day of the Plan
Year, prior to the crediting of any Annual Pay Credit or other credit for such Plan Year. In the final year of employment of each such Member,
interest at the same rate as used in determining the Interest Credit on the last day of the Plan Year preceding the plan year in which employment
is terminated, shall be credited on a pro rata basis up to such Member's termination date. Except as provided below, Interest Credits shall cease
once benefit payments have commenced to the Member.

The rate of interest used to determine the Interest Credit for a Plan Year shall be the twelve-month average of the 30-year constant maturity
Treasury Bond rates (or the generally accepted proxy therefor (as published by the U.S. Federal Reserve Board)) determined for the 12 months
ending in November of the immediately preceding Plan Year. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, an Employer
reserves the right to change the interest rate used to determine Interest Credits at any time prior to the beginning of the Plan Year in which such
credit is added to the Member's Cash Balance Account.

If a Member who is currently receiving Retirement Benefits in any form other than a lump-sum payment is reemployed, interest hereunder shall not

be credited to the Member's Cash Balance Account used to determine such benefits but shall be credited to a new Cash Balance Account
established on behalf of such Member.

4.2 Vesting and Early Commencement of Retirement Benefit Payments

(@) Commencement of Vested Retirement Benefits at Normal Retirement Date. A Member whose Severance from Service Date occurs after
he has completed five or more Years of Creditable Service shall be entitled to receive a Retirement Benefit commencing at Normal Retirement



Date calculated in accordance with Section 4.1, the monthly amount of which, if such benefit were paid in the form of a Single Life Annuity, shall
be equal to the Member's Accrued Benefit at his Annuity Starting Date under the Career Earmings Formula and/or the Actuarial Equivalent of his
Cash Balance Account at his Annuity Starting Date. Subject to the provisions of Article 6, any Retirement Benefit payable under this section may
be paid in the form of a Single Life Annuity, an Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity, or in another optional form of payment provided
under Section 6.3.

If, at the Member's Severance from Service Date, a Member's vested Accrued Benefit is zero, he shall be deemed to have received an immediate
lump-sum payment of his vested Accrued Benefit.
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(b) Commencement of Vested Retirement Benefits Before Normal Retirement Date.

(1) Provisions Applicable to Accrued Benefits Attributable to the Cash Balance Formula. Subject to the provisions of Article
6, a Member whose Severance from Service Date occurs after he has completed five or more Years of Creditable Service shall be
entitled to elect that the Retirement Benefit payable pursuant to the Cash Balance Formula, if any, commence on the first day of the
month coincident with or following his Severance from Service Date up to his Normal Retirement Date.

(2) Provisions Applicable to Commencement of Vested Retirement Benefits Attributable to the Career Earnings Formula.
The Retirement Benefit determined under the Career Eamings Formula of a Member whose Severance from Service Date occurs
prior to his Normal Retirement Date shall not commence until the Member's Normal Retirement Date, except as follows:

(A) A Member whose Severance from Service Date occurs on or after the Member's attainment of age 55 and
following his completion of 10 Years of Creditable Service may elect to commence his Retirement Benefit as of the
first day of any month prior to the Member's Normal Retirement Date. If such a Member elects an Annuity Starting
Date that is prior to the Member's Normal Retirement Date, the Retirement Benefit payable as of such date shall equal
the Member's Accrued Benefit multiplied by the applicable percentages contained in Schedule B;

(B) A Member whose Severance from Service Date occurs on or after the date as of which the sum of the Member's
age and the Member's Years of Creditable Service equal or exceed a total of 90 years may elect to commence his
Retirement Benefit as of the first day of any month on or after the Member's attainment of age 55 and prior to the
Member's Normal Retirement Date. If such a Member elects an Annuity Starting Date that is prior to the Member's
Normal Retirement Date, the Retirement Benefit payable as of such date shall equal the Member's Accrued Benefit
multiplied by the applicable percentages contained in Schedule C;

(C) A Member whose Severance From Service Date occurs on or after the date as of which the Member has
completed five or more Years of Creditable Service but prior to the date as of which the Member satisfies the
requirements of Sections 4.2(b)(2)(A) and (B), such Member may elect to commence his Retirement Benefit as of the
first day of any month prior to the Member's Normal Retirement Date on or after the Member has attained age 55. If
such a Member elects an Annuity Starting Date that is prior to the Member's Normal Retirement Date, the Retirement
Benefit payable as of such date shall equal the Member's Accrued Benefit multiplied by the applicable percentages
contained in Schedule D.
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(D)  The foregoing notwithstanding, the Retirement Benefit of a Member who has completed at least five Years of
Creditable Service shall in no event be less than the Retirement Benefit to which the Member would have been entitled
had his Severance from Service Date occurred on December 31, 1993, under the terms and conditions of the Plan as
then in effect (the "1993 Annuity"). A Member may elect to receive his 1993 Annuity, if any, prior to attaining age 55
but in no event prior to attaining age 50. If a Member makes such an election, the remaining portion of his Accrued
Benefit, if any, determined as of the date he elects to receive the 1993 Annuity and expressed as a benefit payable at
age 65, shall be the amount obtained by subtracting the Member's 1993 Annuity from the product of his Accrued
Benefit multiplied by the Actuarial Factor. The resulting net benefit amount, if any, is then divided by the Actuarial
Factor to obtain the remaining benefit payable at age 65. For purposes of this computation, the "Actuarial Factor" shall
mean the product of 40% multiplied by the actuarial equivalent value of an annual benefit of $1 commencing at age 55,
determined as of the date the Member begins to receive his 1993 Annuity. The remaining portion of the Accrued
Benefit so determined shall be payable under the terms and conditions of the Plan in effect at the Member's
termination of employment.

A Member who terminates employment with a vested right to his 1993 Annuity may elect to receive the 1993 Annuity
in any of the optional forms of benefit available to such Member as in effect under the Plan on December 31, 1993.

4.3 Deferred Retirement

(@) Amount of Benefit. A Member who remains an Eligible Employee beyond his Normal Retirement Date shall be entitled to a Deferred
Retirement Benefit, calculated in accordance with Section 4.1 and in accordance with the provisions of the Plan as in effect as of his Severance
from Service Date. The monthly amount of a Member's benefit payable under this section, if such benefit were payable in the form of a Single Life
Annuity, shall be the Actuarial Equivalent of his Cash Balance Account or his Retirement Benefit under the Career Earnings Formula at his
Severance from Service Date. Subject to the provisions of Article 6, any benefit payable under this section may be paid in the form of a Single Life
Annuity, an Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity, or in an optional form of payment under Section 6.3.

(b) Commencement of Benefit. Subject to the provisions of Article 6, and except as provided in Sections 4.3(c) and (d), such Deferred
Retirement Benefit payments shall commence as of the first day of the calendar month coincident with or next following the Member's Severance
from Service Date.



(c) Limited Service. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, with respect to the period from his Normal Retirement Date to his
Severance from Service Date, the Member shall receive Normal Retirement Benefit payments for each month in which he is compensated for
fewer than 40 Hours of Service.
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(d) Suspension of Benefits Notice Procedures. In the case of a Member who remains an Employee beyond his Normal Retirement Date,
Sections 5.2 and 5.3 (suspension of benefits) shall apply for any month commencing after Normal Retirement Date in which he is compensated for
40 or more Hours of Service.

4.4 Disability Retirement

(a) Effect of Disability Leave Status on Benefits Under the Career Earnings Formula. Upon becoming Disabled, a Member who has
completed at least five years of Creditable Service will be eligible for Disability Leave Status. Such status may be terminated or suspended by the
Retirement Committee if at any time before age 65 the Member again engages in regular full-time employment, fails or refuses to undergo any
medical examination ordered by the Retirement Committee, or the Retirement Committee determines on the basis of a medical examination that
the Member has sufficiently recovered to engage in regular full-time employment. While on Disability Leave Status, a Member will be credited with
Creditable Service, and with Earnings at the same rate as he had earned in the calendar year prior to the calendar year in which he became [totally
and permanently disabled], until the Member retires, dies, reaches age 65, or his Disability Leave Status is sooner terminated or suspended.

(b) Effect of Disability on Benefits Under the Cash Balance Formula. If a Member who has completed at least five years of Creditable
Service and who is an Employee suffers a Disability prior to termination, and, for reasons thereof, the Member's status as an Employee ceases,
then such Member shall continue to be credited with Annual Pay Credits and Interest Credits as described below and as provided in Section 4.1 as
if the individual were still actively employed. For the purpose of determining a Disabled Member's Annual Pay Credits for any Plan Year, such
Member's Earnings for any period of Disability shall be equal to the Member's Earnings during the full calendar year immediately preceding the
date of such Disability (annualized in the event the Member did not receive 12 full months of Earnings). Additionally, Years of Creditable Service
(determined on the basis of the Member's regularly scheduled Hours of Service as of the date immediately preceding the date of such Disability)
shall continue to be credited during the period in which credits continue to be credited to the Member's Cash Balance Account. Annual Pay Credits
for a Plan Year shall be determined based on the Disabled Member's attained age and Anniversary Years of Service (including the additional
service described above) as of the immediately preceding December 31. However, such credits shall cease upon the earliest to occur of:

(1) the day on which the Member's long-term disability plan payments cease;
(2) the day the Member dies;
(3) the date the Member begins to receive benefit payments under the Plan; or

(4) the fifth anniversary of the last day the Member was actively at work prior to such Disability, as determined by the Retirement
Committee.
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4.5 Adjustment for In-Service Payments

In the case of a Member whose benefit payments commence prior to his Severance from Service Date pursuant to either section 4.3(c) or section
6.4(b) (required commencement at age 70%2)--

(@) Retirement Benefits payable under the Career Earmings Formula shall be reduced to reflect the Actuarial Equivalent value of amounts
previously paid to the Member as in-service payments; and

(b) the Member's benefit determined under the Cash Balance Formula will be adjusted, if appropriate, in each calendar year beginning after the

Member's Annuity Starting Date, to reflect changes in his Normal Retirement Benefit resulting from adjustments to the Member's Cash Balance
Account for the next preceding calendar year.

4.6 Transfer of Employment

In the case of a Member who transfers from employment with an Employer to a nonparticipating Affiliated Company, he shall not earn Creditable
Service for Anniversary Years during which the Member is employed by the nonparticipating Affiliated Company nor shall the Member's Earnings
be recognized with respect to such period. No Annual Pay Credits shall be made to the Member's Cash Balance Account with respect to the period
of such Member's employment with a nonparticipating Affiliated Company, however, such Member's Cash Balance Account shall continue to be
credited with Interest Credits during such period until the end of the month prior to the month in which payment under the Plan commences.
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Article 5. Effect of Continued Employment or Reemployment on
Retirement Benefits

5.1 Reemployment After a Member's Annuity Starting Date



In the case of a Member who is reemployed by an Employer or an Affiliate after he has received or begun to receive a benefit under the Plan,
benefit payments under the Plan shall be suspended during the period of his reemployment with respect to benefits accrued prior to such
reemployment. The amount of the Member's Cash Balance Account attributable to the Member's previous employment shall be equal to $0 upon
such Member's reemployment and a new Cash Balance Account shall be established with respect to such Member which shall reflect Annual Pay
Credits for periods after reemployment and related Interest Credits.

5.2 Reemployment Before a Member's Annuity Starting Date

In the case of a Member who is reemployed by an Employer or an Affiliate before he has begun to receive a benefit, such Member's participation
in the Plan shall resume as of the date of such Member's reemployment, provided, however, that any benefits accrued by a Member who is
reemployed following a One-Year Break in Service shall be determined under the Cash Balance Formula, pursuant to Section 4.1(c).

5.3 Reemployment or Continuation of Employment After a Member's Normal Retirement Date

In the case of a Member who is reemployed by an Employer or an Affiliate after his Normal Retirement Date or who remains employed by an
Employer or an Affiliate after his Normal Retirement Date--

(@) no benefits shall be paid under the Plan for any month in which he is compensated for 40 or more Hours of Service;

(b) for periods of employment or reemployment described in subsection (a) above, Department of Labor regulation section 2530.203-3, including
the notice procedures described in Section 5.4, shall be followed; and

(1) benefits paid after a subsequent Break in Service shall not be adjusted on account of payments suspended during periods of employment or
reemployment.

5.4 Suspension of Benefits Notice Procedures

In the case of a Member whose benefits are to be suspended after Normal Retirement Age as a result of such Member's continuation of
employment with an Employer or an Affiliate, the Retirement Committee shall notify the Member of any such suspension by personal delivery or
first class mail during the first calendar month for which payments are withheld. Such notice shall contain--

(@) a general description of the reasons why payments are suspended;
(b) a general description of the Plan provisions relating to the suspension of benefits;

23

(c) acopy of such Plan provisions;

(d) a statement that applicable Department of Labor regulations may be found in section 2530.203-3 of the Code of Federal Regulations; and
(e) a statement that a review of the suspension may be requested under the claims procedure found in Section 11.10.

If the summary plan description ("SPD") contains information which is substantially the same as the information required by this section, the
notification may refer the Member to the relevant pages of the SPD, provided that the Member is informed as to how to obtain a copy of the SPD

or the relevant pages, and that requests for information are honored within 30 days.
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Article 6. Form of Payment of Retirement Benefits

6.1 Automatic Form of Payment

Subject to Sections 6.2 through 6.5, a Member's benefit shall be paid in the form of a Single Life Annuity (in the case of unmarried Member) and in
the form of an Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity (in the case of married Members) commencing on the date determined under the
provisions of Article 4.

6.2 Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity

(@) General Rule. The benefit of a Member who has been married to his Spouse throughout the one-year period immediately preceding his
Annuity Starting Date and who is entitled to receive monthly annuity payments under the Plan shall be payable in the form of an Automatic Joint
and Surviving Spouse Annuity (as defined below), unless he has elected otherwise in accordance with Section 6.2(c).

(b) Definition. "Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity" shall mean an annuity that is the Actuarial Equivalent of a Single Life Annuity,
provides a reduced level monthly benefit to the Member for his lifetime, and upon the Member's death, provides an annuity for the life of his
surviving Spouse in a monthly amount equal to 50% of the monthly amount payable to the Member during his life."

(c) Election Procedures.



(1) General Rule. A married Member may elect in writing, on a form supplied by the Retirement Committee, to waive the
Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity, and to receive his benefits in the form of a Single Life Annuity or in accordance with
an optional form of payment described in Section 6.3. Any election by a Member pursuant to this Section 6.2(c)(1) must be filed with
the Retirement Committee within the election period described in Section 6.2(c)(5). For such an election to be effective--

(A) the Member's Spouse must consent in writing to such election;
(B)  such election must state the optional form of payment under Section 6.3 which is elected;
(C) such election must designate a Beneficiary (if applicable);
(D) the Member's Spouse must acknowledge the financial consequences of such consent; and
(E) such Spouse's consent must be witnessed by a Plan representative or a notary public.
(2) Exception to Consent Requirement. The consent of a Member's Spouse shall not be required where--
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(A) the Member has elected the form of payment described in Section 6.3(d) and the Spouse is the Beneficiary
thereunder,;

(B) the Retirement Committee determines that the required consent cannot be obtained because there is no Spouse
or the Member's Spouse could not be located;

(C) the Retirement Committee determines that the Member is legally separated,;

(D) the Retirement Committee determines that the Member has been abandoned within the meaning of local law and
there is a court order to that effect.

(3) Revocation and Modification. An election by a Member, pursuant to Section 6.2(c)(1), to waive an Automatic Joint and
Surviving Spouse Annuity may be revoked by the Member, in writing, without the consent of his Spouse at any time during the
election period. Any subsequent election by a Member to waive an Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity or any subsequent
modification of a prior election (other than a revocation of a waiver of an Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity or a change
in the form of payment or designation of Beneficiary where there is in effect a valid general consent with respect to the form of
payment or designated Beneficiary (whichever is applicable)) must comply with the requirements set forth in Section 6.2(c)(1) above.
A Spouse's consent shall be considered a "general consent" if the following requirements are satisfied--

(A) the consent permits the Member to waive the Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity;

(B) the consent permits the Member to change the optional form of benefit payment and/or the designated
Beneficiary without any requirement of further consent by the Spouse; and

(C) the Spouse acknowledges in the consent that--

(i) the Spouse has the right to limit consent to a specific optional form of benefit and/or Beneficiary (as
applicable), and

(i)  the Spouse voluntarily relinquishes either or both of such rights (as applicable).

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article 6 to the contrary, if, at any time subsequent to the Annuity Starting
Date of a retirement benefit being paid to a Member in the form of an Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity,
the Plan receives a domestic relations order determined by the Retirement Committee pursuant to Section 14.3 to be a
qualified domestic relations order under Code section 414(p), which order specifically provides that the Member's
former Spouse who is the Member's contingent annuitant under the Automatic Joint and Surviving
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Spouse Annuity is no longer the Member's contingent annuitant for purposes of survivor benefits under the Plan, the
Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity shall thereupon be cancelled. Upon such cancellation of the Automatic
Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity, the Member shall elect any form of payment as shall be available under the Plan
to the Member at the time of the cancellation of the Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity; provided, however,
that the amount of the retirement benefit payable after the cancellation of the Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse
Annuity shall be the Actuarial Equivalent of the Member's Accrued Benefit as of the Member's Annuity Starting Date
reduced to reflect the value of the benefits previously received by the Member in the form of the Automatic Joint and
Surviving Spouse Annuity.

(4) Validity of Spousal Consent. Any consent or election under this provision shall be valid only with respect to the Spouse who
signs the consent or, if the Spouse's consent is excused by the Retirement Committee, the designated Spouse, but shall be
irrevocable once made.

(5) Election Period. For purposes of this Section 6.2, a Member's "election period" shall be the 90-day period ending on the
Annuity Starting Date. If the written notification described in Section 6.2(d) is provided after the Annuity Starting Date, then the
election period shall not end until 30 days after the notification is provided.

(d) Notification. With regard to an election, the Retirement Committee shall provide each Member within the notice period described below, a



written explanation of--
(1) the terms and conditions of the Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity;

(2) the Member's right to make, and the effect and financial consequences of, a waiver of the Automatic Joint and Surviving
Spouse Annuity;

(3) the relative values of the various optional forms of benefit under the Plan;
(4) the rights of the Member's Spouse regarding a waiver of the Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity; and

(5) the right of the Member to revoke a prior waiver of the Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity and the effect and
financial consequences of such a revocation.

For purposes of this Section 6.2(d), the "notice period" shall be the 60-day period beginning 90 days prior to the Annuity Starting Date; provided,
however, that the Retirement Committee may establish uniform procedures to permit a Member with any applicable spousal consent to waive the
30-day period for notice and/or election if the distribution commences more than 7 days after the notification is provided.
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6.3 Other Optional Forms of Payment

(@) In General.

(1)  The optional forms of payment described in Section 6.3(b), (d) and (e) shall not be available with respect to any Retirement
Benefit (A) that is determined under the Career Earnings Formula and that (B) is payable to a Member whose Severance From
Service Date occurs prior to the date as of which the Member satisfies the requirements of Sections 4.2(b)(2)(A) or (B).

(2) Subject to Sections 6.1, 6.2 and 6.3(a)(1), a Member may elect in writing to receive his benefit under Section 4.1, 4.2, 4.3, or
4.4 in any optional form of payment described in this section. An optional form of payment shall be the Actuarial Equivalent of the
benefit payable to the Member as a Single Life Annuity, except in the case of a Retirement Benefit determined under the Cash
Balance Formula that is paid in the form of a lump sum, which lump sum payment shall be in the amount determined pursuant to
Section 2.1(b)(1)(A). An election by an unmarried Member to receive payment of his benefit in an optional form shall be valid only if
he is furnished with an explanation of the material features and relative values of the optional forms of benefit within the notice period
described in Section 6.2(d).

(b) Lump Sum Option.

(1) With respect to a Retirement Benefit determined under the Career Earings Formula, a Member may elect to receive his
Retirement Benefit in the form of a lump sum payment; provided, however, that (A) the election to receive such lump sum payment
must be made by the Member prior to the Member's Severance from Service Date, and (B) the Annuity Starting Date of such lump
sum payment may not be deferred beyond the Annuity Starting Date next following or coincident with the Member's Severance from
Service Date. Such lump sum benefit shall be the Actuarial Equivalent of the Member's Accrued Benefit on the Member's Annuity
Starting Date.

(2)  With respect to a Retirement Benefit determined under the Cash Balance Formula, a Member may elect to receive his
Retirement Benefit in the form of a lump sum payment which lump sum payment shall be equal to the amount credited to his Cash
Balance Account as of the last day of the month next preceding his Annuity Starting Date.

(c) Single Life Annuity Options. A Member may elect to receive an annuity providing equal monthly payments for the lifetime of the Member
with no survivor benefits.

(d) Joint and Contingent Annuity Option. A Member may elect an annuity providing reduced equal monthly payments for his lifetime, with
monthly payments to continue for the lifetime of his Beneficiary in an amount equal to 50% or 100% of the monthly amount payable during the
Member's lifetime.
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(e) Level Income Option. If the Member's benefit is to commence prior to the Member's Normal Retirement Date, the Member may elect to
convert the Retirement Benefit otherwise payable to him into a Retirement Benefit of an Actuarial Equivalent value of such amount so that with his
expected Social Security benefit, he will receive, so far as possible, the same amount each year before and after such expected Social Security
benefit commences. A Member whose Retirement Benefit commences before he reaches age 62 may elect the Level Income Option based on his
Social Security benefit as of age 62 or his Social Security benefit as of age 65. A Member whose Retirement Benefit commences after he reaches
age 62 may only elect the level income option based on his Social Security benefit as of age 65. Monthly payments shall terminate upon the death
of the Member unless the Member elected the Level Income Option in conjunction with the Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity or the
Joint and Contingent Annuity Option described in Section 6.3(d), in which event payments shall continue pursuant to such election if the Member's
Spouse or Beneficiary, as applicable, survives the Member.

6.4 Distribution Requirements

(@) General Rule. Notwithstanding anything in Sections 6.1 through 6.3 to the contrary, and unless the Member otherwise elects in writing,
distribution to such Member shall not commence later than the sixtieth day after the close of the Plan Year in which occurs the latest of the
following events:



(1) the Member attains age 65;
(2) the Member attains the tenth anniversary of the date on which he became a Member under the Plan; or
(3) the Member's Break in Service.

(b) Latest Allowable Commencement Dates.

(1) Basic Rule. Notwithstanding anything contained in Sections 6.1 through 6.3 to the contrary and except as provided under
Section 6.4(b)(3), any Member who is a five percent owner (as such term is defined in Code section 416(i)(1)(B)(i)), with respect to
the Plan Year ending with or within the calendar year in which he attains age 70%2, shall commence to receive Retirement Benefit
payments no later than April 1 following the close of the calendar year in which age 707 is attained. Retirement Benefit payments to
any other Member shall commence no later than April 1 of the calendar year following the later of (1) the calendar year in which such
Member attains age 70%: or (2) the calendar year in which such Member Severance from Service Date occurs.

With respect to a Member other than a five percent owner (as such term is defined in Code section 416(i)(1)(B)(i)) whose Severance
from Service Date occurs subsequent to April 1 of the close of the calendar year in which the Member attains age 70%2 and whose
Retirement Benefit is determined under the Career Earnings Formula, the Retirement Benefit of such a Member shall be actuarially
adjusted.
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Such actuarially adjusted Retirement Benefit shall be equal to the Actuarial Equivalent, as of the Member's Annuity Starting Date, of:

(A) the Member's Retirement Benefit determined as of the April 1 following the close of the calendar year in which
the Member attained age 70"z plus

(B) any additional Retirement Benefits accrued by the Member during the period beginning on the April 1 following
the close of the calendar year in which the Member attained age 70%2 and ending on the Member's Severance from
Service Date; minus

(C) any distributions made to the Member prior to the Member's Annuity Starting Date.

For purposes of this Section 6.4(b)(2), the actuarial equivalent value of a Member's Retirement Benefit as of the Member's Annuity
Starting date shall be determined by using the actuarial assumptions contained in Section 2.1(b)(2).

(2) Method of Distribution. All distributions under the Plan shall comply with Code section 401(a)(9) and the Treasury
Regulations thereunder, including the minimum distribution incidental death benefit requirement of Code section 401(a)(9)(G) and the
Treasury Regulations thereunder, and such provisions shall override any Plan provisions otherwise inconsistent therewith. The Plan
will apply the minimum distribution requirements of Code section 401(a)(9) in accordance with the regulations under Code section
401(a)(9) that were proposed on January 17, 2001, notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary. This provision
shall continue in effect until the end of the last calendar year beginning before the effective date of final regulations under Code
section 401(a)(9) or such other date as may be specified in guidance published by the Internal Revenue Service.

(c) No Change in Form of Payment After Annuity Starting Date. Except as may otherwise be permitted in Section 6.2(c)(3), a Member may
not change the form of benefit payment elected pursuant to this Article 6 for any reason following the Member's Annuity Starting Date.

6.5 Amounts Not Exceeding $5,000

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article 6, if the Actuarial Equivalent present value of the vested benefits payable under the Plan
(including a benefit payable in a form as described in Section 6.2) on the Member's Severance from Service Date does not exceed $5,000, the
Retirement Committee shall cause such Member's vested benefits to be paid to him in a single lump sum payment of Actuarial Equivalent value
as soon as practicable following his Severance from Service Date. In the event a Member is not entitled to any Retirement Benefit at his
Severance from Service Date pursuant to Section 4.2(a), he shall be deemed cashed out under the provisions of this Section 6.5 as of his
Severance from Service Date. However, if such Member is subsequently reemployed by the Employer or an Affiliated Company, his Retirement
Benefit shall be automatically restored.
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6.6 Designation of Beneficiary

Subject to the provisions of Sections 6.2 through 6.5, 7.1 and 7.2, each Member who is accruing benefits under the Cash Balance Formula may
designate a Beneficiary, including a trust or an estate, to whom survivor's benefits under Article 7 are to be paid upon the Member's death. Each
such designation shall be made on a form provided by the Retirement Committee, shall be effective only when filed in writing with the Retirement
Committee, and shall revoke, subject to the provisions of Section 6.2, all prior designations. If no Beneficiary is designated, if a designation is
revoked, or if no designated Beneficiary survives the Member, the applicable benefit, if any, shall be payable to the Member's surviving Spouse or,
if there is no surviving Spouse, to the Member's estate, except as provided in Section 6.7.

6.7 Death of Beneficiary Prior to Member's Separation from Service Date

If the Beneficiary designated by the Member to receive survivor benefits described in Section 6.3(d) dies prior to the Member's Severance from
Service Date, the election under Section 6.3 shall be void, and benefits shall be payable under Section 6.1 or 6.2, as applicable, unless and until
another Beneficiary is formally designated by the Member pursuant to Section 6.6.



6.8 Optional Direct Rollovers of Eligible Rollover Distributions

(@) In General. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, a "Distributee" may elect to have any portion (subject to the
limitations provided below of an "Eligible Rollover Distribution" paid directly to an "Eligible Retirement Plan" specified by the "Distributee" in a
"Direct Rollover" to the extent permitted by Code section 401(a)(31) and applicable Treasury regulations thereunder. Terms in quotation marks are
defined in Section 6.8(b).

(b) Definitions.

(1) "Direct Rollover" means a payment by the Plan to an Eligible Retirement Plan, in the form of a direct trustee to trustee
transfer, as specified by the Distributee.

(2) "Distributee™ means each of the following persons who may elect a Direct Rollover of an Eligible Rollover Distribution of the
Member's Retirement Benefit;

(A)  the Member;
(B) the Member's Beneficiary, if the Beneficiary was married to the Member on the date of his death; and

(C) an alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order, as defined in Code section 414(p), if that person is
the Spouse or former Spouse of the Member.

(3) "“Eligible Retirement Plan" means a qualified plan described in Code section 401(a), provided that the terms of such qualified
plan permit acceptance of the Distributee's Eligible Rollover Distribution, an annuity plan described in Code section 403(a), an
annuity contract described in Code section 403(b), an individual retirement account described in Code section 408(a), an individual
retirement

31

annuity described in Code section 408(b), or an eligible plan under Code section 457(b) which is maintained by a state, political
subdivision of a state, or an agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state and which agrees to separately
account for amounts transferred into such plan from the Plan. However, in the case of an Eligible Rollover Distribution to the
surviving Spouse, an "Eligible Retirement Plan" is an individual retirement account or an individual retirement annuity, as such terms
are defined in the preceding sentence.

(4) "Eligible Rollover Distribution™ means any distribution of all or any portion of the Retirement Benefit payable to the
Distributee except that an "Eligible Rollover Distribution" does not include:

(A) any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than
annually) made for the life (or life expectancy) of the Distributee or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the
Distributee or the Distributee's designated Beneficiary, or for a specified period of 10 years or more;

(B) any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under Code section 401(a)(9); and
(C) the portion of any distribution that is not includible in gross income.

(c) No amount shall be directly rolled over pursuant to this Section 6.8 unless and until it would otherwise be distributed to the Distributee and all
consents and written elections required to make the distribution have been obtained. Nothing in this Section 6.8 shall be construed to alter the
normal or optional forms of payment of the Retirement Benefit available under the Plan.

(d) The Retirement Committee shall provide notice to each Distributee who will receive an Eligible Rollover Distribution of the Distributee's right
to elect a Direct Rollover in accordance with Code section 401(a)(31). The Retirement Committee shall provide such notice at the time and in the
manner required by regulations.

(e) The Distributee shall notify the Retirement Committee in writing by such deadline as the Retirement Committee shall prescribe whether or
not he wishes to have any part of the Eligible Rollover Distribution directly rolled over. If the Distributee fails to elect a Direct Rollover by the
deadline established by the Retirement Committee, then the entire amount of the Eligible Rollover Distribution shall be distributed or paid directly to
the Distributee as otherwise provided in the Plan.

(f) A Distributee may elect that the lowest of the following amounts shall be directly rolled over:
(1)  The entire amount of the Eligible Rollover Distribution; or

(2)  Such portion of the Eligible Rollover Distribution as the Distributee specifies (in accordance with rules established by the
Retirement Committee), provided that the
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amount directly rolled over is not less than $200 or such higher amount as the Retirement Committee may prescribe in accordance
with applicable Treasury regulations.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 6.8(f), a Distributee may not elect a Direct Rollover with respect to his Eligible Rollover
Distributions during the year if such Eligible Rollover Distributions are reasonably expected to total less than $200.

(@9 A Member may elect to have a direct rollover made with respect to a portion of his distribution, provided the amount of the partial direct
rollover equals at least $500.



(h)  The Distributee may only request a Direct Rollover to one Eligible Retirement Plan with respect to any Eligible Rollover Distribution.

(i)  No amount will be directly rolled over pursuant to this Section 6.8 unless the Distributee provides the Retirement Committee, by such
deadline as the Retirement Committee shall prescribe, such information as it shall require--

(1)  to determine that the amount directly rolled over will be received by an Eligible Retirement Plan that will accept the Direct
Rollover; and

(2) to make the Direct Rollover and make such reports and keep such records as are required under applicable law.
The Retirement Committee may rely on all such information provided by the Distributee and shall not be required to verify any such information.
() The Retirement Committee shall select the manner in which to make the Direct Rollover.

(k)  Any amount directly rolled over in accordance with this Section 6.8 shall be a distribution from this Plan and shall discharge any liability to
the Distributee under this Plan to the same extent as a payment directly to the Distributee.
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Article 7. Preretirement Death Benefits

7.1 Unmarried Member

In the case of a Member who has no surviving Spouse and dies after having completed at least five Years of Creditable Service but prior to his
Annuity Starting Date, his Retirement Benefit under the Cash Balance Formula shall be payable to his Beneficiary in a single lump-sum cash
distribution as soon as practicable following the applicable date described in Section 7.2. Each unmarried Member may designate a Beneficiary or
Beneficiaries of his Cash Balance Account. The Member may, from time to time during his lifetime, on a form approved by and filed with the
Retirement Committee, change the Beneficiary or Beneficiaries of his Cash Balance Account. In the event that a Member fails to designate a
Beneficiary or Beneficiaries of his cash balance Account, or if for any reason such designation shall be legally ineffective, or if all designated
Beneficiaries predecease the Member or die simultaneously with him, distribution shall be made to the Member's estate. In the case of the death
of an unmarried Member before his Annuity Starting Date, no benefit shall be payable under the Career Earnings Formula.

7.2 Married Member

(@) Automatic Preretirement Surviving Spouse Benefit. In the case of a Member who has a surviving Spouse and dies prior to his Annuity
Starting Date, then the preretirement death benefit payable to such Member's surviving Spouse shall be a Single Life Annuity. The amount of such
Single Life Annuity under the Cash Balance Formula shall be determined based on the Spouse's life and shall be the Actuarial Equivalent of the
benefit that would have been payable to the Member in the form of a lump-sum benefit determined on the date of the Member's death. Such
preretirement surviving Spouse benefit shall commence at the end of the month following the month in which the Member would have attained his
Normal Retirement Date or earlier, if the Spouse so elects. The amount of such Single Life Annuity under the Career Earnings Formula shall be
determined as if (i) the Member's Severance from Service Date had occurred on the day immediately preceding his date of death (if he had not
previously incurred a Severance from Service Date); (ii) the Member had survived to the day immediately preceding his earliest possible Annuity
Starting Date; (iii) the Member had elected to receive his retirement benefit in the form of an Automatic Joint and Survivor Annuity pursuant to
Section 6.2 and (iv) the Member died immediately following such election. Such preretirement surviving Spouse benefit, payable for the life of the
surviving Spouse, shall commence at the end of the month following the month in which the Member would have attained his Normal Retirement
Date or earlier, if the Spouse so elects, but not earlier than the date the Member first would have reached age 55.

(b) Lump-Sum Option. In lieu of an automatic preretirement surviving Spouse benefit under Section 7.2(a), a surviving Spouse may elect to
receive a lump-sum benefit equal to the value of the Member's Cash Balance Account as of the last day of the month in which the Member's death
occurs, but not less than the amount determined in accordance with the factors in Section 2.1(b)(1).
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(c) Waiver of Preretirement Surviving Spouse Benefit. With respect to a Member's Accrued Benefit attributable to the Cash Balance
Formula, a married Member may waive the automatic preretirement surviving Spouse benefit in accordance with the provisions of this Section
7.2(c).

(1) Notice Requirements. The Retirement Committee shall provide each Member with a written explanation with respect to the
automatic preretirement surviving Spouse benefit comparable to that required in Section 6.2, regarding the Automatic Joint and
Surviving Spouse Annuity, within whichever of the following periods that ends last: (A) the period beginning on the first day of the
Plan Year in which the Member attains age 32 and ending on the last day of the Plan Year in which the Member attains age 34; (B) a
reasonable period after an Employee becomes a Member; or (C) a reasonable period after the joint and survivor rules become
applicable to the Member. A reasonable period described in clauses (B) and (C) is the period beginning one year before and ending
one year after the applicable event. If the Member's Severance from Service Date is before the date the Member attains age 35,
clauses (A), (B) and (C) shall not apply and the Retirement Committee must provide the written explanation within the period
beginning one year before and ending one year after the Member's Severance from Service Date.

(2) Election Period. A Member's waiver of the automatic preretirement surviving Spouse benefit is not valid unless (A) the
Member makes the waiver election no earlier than the first day of the Plan Year in which he attains age 35 and (B) the Member's
Spouse satisfies the consent requirements described in Section 7.2(c)(3). The Spouse's consent to the waiver of the automatic
preretirement surviving Spouse benefit shall be irrevocable, unless the Member revokes the waiver election. Irrespective of the time



of election requirements described in clause (A) of the first sentence of this Section 7.2(c)(2), if the Member's Severance from
Service Date occurs prior to the first day of the Plan Year in which he attains age 35, the Retirement Committee will accept a waiver
election with respect to the Member's Retirement Benefit attributable to his service prior to his Severance from Service Date.
Furthermore, if a Member who has not separated from service makes a valid waiver election, except for the timing requirement of
clause (A) of the first sentence of this Section 7.2(c)(2), the Retirement Committee will accept that election as valid, but only until
the first day of the Plan Year in which the Member attains age 35.

(3) Elections. A Member may elect to waive the automatic preretirement surviving Spouse benefit or revoke such election at any
time during the applicable election periods described in Section 7.2(c)(2)(A) and (B). An election shall only be given effect if (i) the
Spouse of the Member consents in writing to such election, (ii) such election designates another Beneficiary or Beneficiaries to
receive the death benefit in the form of a lump-sum benefit which may not be changed without written spousal consent (or the
consent of the Spouse expressly permits designations by the Member without the requirements of further consent by the Spouse),
and (iii) the Spouse's consent acknowledges the effect of such election and such consent is witnessed by a Plan representative or a
notary public. If it is established to the
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satisfaction of the Retirement Committee that a Member has no Spouse, that his Spouse may not be located, or that such other
circumstances as the Secretary of the Treasury may prescribe by regulations have occurred, then spousal consent shall not be
required. Any spousal consent or lack of requirement of such consent shall only be effective with respect to such Spouse.

7.3 Amounts Not Exceeding $5,000

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article 7, if the Actuarial Equivalent value of a benefit payable under this Article does not exceed
$5,000, such benefit shall be paid in a single lump-sum payment of Actuarial Equivalent value as soon as practicable following the death of the
Member. A Member's surviving Spouse shall have the right to elect a Direct Rollover of a single lump-sum payment made pursuant to this section,
in accordance with Section 6.8. Any such election shall be subject to the limitations and requirements of Section 6.8 and Section 6.8 shall be
applied as though the surviving Spouse were the Member.
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Article 8. Maximum Benefit Limitations

8.1 General Rule

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, the annual Normal Retirement Benefit payable to a Member under the Plan as a Single
Life Annuity, an Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity, or a joint and contingent annuity option under Section 6.3(d) where the surviving
annuitant is the Member's Spouse, commencing at age 65, together with benefits payable in the same form under other qualified defined benefit

plans maintained by an Employer or an Affiliate, shall in no event exceed the lesser of--

(a) $160,000, or such other amount as shall be determined by the Secretary of the Treasury under Code section 415(d) to reflect cost-of-living
adjustments; or

(b) 100 percent of the Member's average Limitation Earmings (as defined in Section 8.7(d)) for the three-consecutive Plan Years that produce the
highest average, or during all of the Plan Years in which he was a Member if less than three years.

If the benefit the Member otherwise would accrue in any Plan Year under the Plan and all such plans (if any) would produce a benefit in excess of
such maximum amount, the rate of accrual under the Plan will be reduced to the extent necessary to avoid such excess. The limitation amount,
as described above, applicable to a Member who terminated his employment with an Employer or any Affiliates and who is, or will be, receiving
Plan benefits shall automatically be adjusted annually for increases in the cost of living.

The Retirement Benefit of any Member whose Severance from Service Date occurred prior to January 1, 2002, and whose Retirement Benefit is
currently limited as a result of the application of the limitations of Code section 415(b), shall be increased, effective with respect to benefit
payments made on and after January 1, 2002, to the amount of Retirement Benefit such Member would have received on his Annuity Starting Date
had the limitations described herein been in effect on the Member's Annuity Starting Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase in the
Retirement Benefit of a Member pursuant to this Section 8.1 will not apply with respect to any former Member who has received a distribution of
his Retirement Benefit in the form of a lump-sum payment and with respect to whom no additional Retirement Benefits are payable (without regard
to any amount that would otherwise be payable to such Member pursuant to this Section 8.1).

8.2 Adjustment for Other Forms of Payment

In the case of benefits payable in a form other than a Single Life Annuity, an Automatic Joint and Surviving Spouse Annuity, or a joint and
contingent annuity option under Section 6.3(d), the limitations of Section 8.1 shall be applied to the amount which would be payable under the Plan
in the form of a Single Life Annuity, and then converting such reduced benefit into the Actuarial Equivalent optional form.

8.3 Adjustment for Benefits Commencing Before Age 62

In the case of benefits commencing before a Member's attainment of age 62, the applicable dollar limit under Section 8.1(a) shall be the Actuarial
Equivalent of the amount payable to the Member at age 62.
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8.4 Adjustment for Benefits Commencing After Age 65.

In the case of benefits commencing after the Member's attainment of age 65, the applicable dollar limit under Section 8.1(a) shall be the Actuarial
Equivalent amount determined as if the Member elected a Single Life Annuity benefit commencing at age 65.

8.5 Adjustment of Limitation for Years of Vesting Service

(@) Dollar Limitation. In the case of a Member whose aggregate years of participation in the Plan are fewer than ten, the applicable dollar limit
under Section 8.1(a) shall be equal to the amount otherwise applicable times the greater of--

(1) 10 percent, or

(2) afraction, the numerator of which is the aggregate number (not in excess of ten) of years of participation in the Plan and the
denominator of which is ten.

(b) Earnings Limitation. In the case of a Member with fewer than ten Years of Creditable Service, the applicable limitation amount under
Section 8.1(b) shall be equal to the amount otherwise applicable times the greater of--

(1) 10 percent, or
(2) afraction, the numerator of which is the total number (not in excess of ten) of Years of Creditable Service credited to the

Member, and the denominator of which is ten.

8.6 Limitation Year

For purposes of applying Code section 415 and applicable Treasury regulations, the limitation year for the Plan shall be the calendar year.

8.7 Definitions

For purposes of this Article 8,

(@) "Annual Addition" shall mean the sum, credited to a Member's accounts under all qualified defined contribution plans maintained by an
Employer or an Affiliate (if any), of--

(1) Employer contributions, including amounts made under cash or deferred arrangements described in Code section 401(k);
(2) forfeitures;
(3) Employee contributions;

(4) amounts allocated to an individual medical benefit account (as defined in Code section 415(1)) which is part of any defined
benefit plan maintained by an Employer or an Affiliate; and
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(5) amounts (derived from contributions paid after December 31, 1985, in taxable years ending after such date) attributable to
post-retirement medical benefits allocated to the separate account of a Key Employee (as defined in Section 13.7(b)) under a welfare
benefit fund (as defined in Code section 419(e)) maintained by an Employer or an Affiliate;

provided, however, that Code section 415(c)(1)(B) shall not apply to any amount treated as an Annual Addition under paragraph (4) or (5) hereof.
Restored forfeitures, repaid distributions, rollover contributions, and loan payments shall not be treated as Annual Additions. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, any contribution made after a Member's termination of employment with the Company and its Affiliates for the purpose of providing
medical care (within the meaning of Code section 419A(f)(2)) shall not be treated as an Annual Addition.

(b) “Limitation Earnings" shall mean the total of regular, overtime, bonus, and other cash compensation paid or made available to the
Employee during the Plan Year, but not including amounts deferred as a result of a salary reduction election under Code section 401(k) or deferrals
under a plan maintained under Code section 125, and the items listed in Treasury regulation section 1.415-2(d)(2) (relating to deferred
compensation, stock options, and proceeds from the sale of certain securities). The limitation on Earnings contained in Section 2.1(s)(3) shall
apply. Effective January 1, 1998, "Limitation Earnings" shall mean a Member's "compensation" as defined in Code section 415(c)(3), including any
deferrals under Code section 401(k), 132(f)(4) or 125.

(c) "Projected Annual Benefit" shall mean the annual benefit to which the Member would be entitled under the terms of the Plan and all other
defined benefit plans maintained by an Employer or an Affiliate, if the Member continued employment until his Normal Retirement Age (or current
age, if later) and the Member's Limitation Earnings (as defined in Section 8.7(b)) for the Plan Year and all other relevant factors used to determine
such benefit remained constant until Normal Retirement Age (or current age, if later).
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Article 9. Amendment and Termination

9.1 Amendment of the Plan

The Board of Directors of the Company, in its sole and absolute discretion, hereby reserves the right to amend, modify, or alter in any respect the
Plan at any time and from time to time and retroactively if deemed necessary or appropriate for any reason whatsoever. Further, by adopting the
Plan, an Employer hereby delegates to the Board of Directors of the Company, the authority and the right to amend or modify the Plan at any time.
The Retirement Committee may make administrative changes to the Plan to qualify or maintain the Plan as a plan meeting the requirements of
ERISA and Code section 401(a) and the Treasury regulations issued thereunder.

No amendment of the Plan shall cause any part of the Trust Fund to be used for or diverted to purposes other than the exclusive benefit of the
Members, their surviving Spouses, or their Beneficiaries covered by the Plan. No Plan amendment may--

(@) decrease the Accrued Benefit of any Member,
(b) eliminate or reduce an early retirement benefit or a retirement-type subsidy (as defined in Treasury regulations), or
(c) eliminate an optional form of benefit with respect to benefits attributable to service before the amendment,

except as permitted under Code section 411(d)(6) and the Treasury regulations thereunder. Retroactive Plan amendments may not decrease the
Accrued Benefit of any Member determined as of the time the amendment was adopted.

9.2 Termination of the Plan

The Board of Directors of the Company may terminate the Plan in whole or in part for any reason at any time in any manner. If the Plan is
terminated or partially terminated without termination of the Trust, the Trust will be continued until the Board of Directors of the Company
terminates it or until all Trust assets have been fully distributed.

9.3 Vesting on Termination or Partial Termination

Upon a complete or partial termination of the Plan (within the meaning of Treasury regulations section 1.411(d)-2), the right of each affected
Member to benefits accrued to the date of such termination or partial termination shall become nonforfeitable to the extent such benefits are
funded as of such date.

9.4 Termination of the Trust

If the Plan is terminated or partially terminated, or if contributions are discontinued, the Trust may be terminated by the Board of Directors of the
Company at any time. The Trust Fund will then be valued. The Retirement Committee will determine the method and means of distribution of each
interest in the Trust Fund and will certify that information to the Trustee. After receiving that certification and after making necessary adjustments
to reflect additional earnings, losses, and liquidation expenses, the Retirement Committee shall direct the Trustee to make distribution as promptly
as possible. If one Employer, but not others, discontinues contributions or
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terminates or partially terminates its participation in the Plan, the Board of Directors of the Company may determine whether or not the Trust shall
be continued for that Employer's Members and Beneficiaries. If those interests in the Trust are terminated, the Board of Directors of the Company
will direct their liquidation under this section.

9.5 Distribution on Termination

Upon termination of the Plan, that portion of any assets then held in the Trust Fund shall be allocated, after payment of all expenses of
administration or liquidation, in accordance with amendments to the Plan adopted prior to such allocation under section 4044(a) of ERISA;
provided, that any assets remaining after the satisfaction of all benefits accrued to the termination date with respect to Members, and their
surviving Spouses and Beneficiaries, shall revert to and be distributed to Employers.

9.6 Merger, Consolidation or Transfer

In the case of any merger or consolidation of the Plan with, or any transfer of assets and liabilities of the Plan to, any other plan, provision must be
made so that each Member would, if the Plan were then terminated, receive a benefit immediately after the merger, consolidation, or transfer which
is equal to or greater than the benefit he would have been entitled to receive under the Plan immediately before the merger, consolidation, or
transfer if the Plan had then terminated.

9.7 Restrictions on Benefits and Distributions to Certain Members

(@) Restriction of Benefits. Notwithstanding any other provisions in the Plan to the contrary, in the event of the termination of the Plan, the
benefit of any Highly Compensated Employee (and any Highly Compensated Former Employee) is limited to a benefit that is nondiscriminatory
under Code section 401(a)(4). For purposes of this Section 9.7, the following terms shall apply:



(1) "Total Earnings" means a Member's compensation as defined in Code section 415(c)(3) as determined by the Retirement
Committee, increased by amounts excluded from wages by reason of a Member's election to reduce wages in lieu of benefits under
a cafeteria plan under Code section 125, a cash or deferred arrangement under Code section 401(k), a transportation fringe benefit
plan under Code section 132(f)(4) or a simplified employee pension arrangement under Code section 408(k).

(2) "Highly Compensated Employee"” means, any Employee who--

(A) was a 5-percent owner (as determined under Code section 416(i)(1)) at any time during the Plan Year or the
preceding Plan Year, or

(B) for the prior Plan Year--

(i) received Total Earnings from Employers and Affiliates in excess of $90,000 (as adjusted by the
Secretary of the Treasury pursuant to Code section 415(d), except that the base period shall be the
calendar quarter ending September 30, 1996), and
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(i)  if the Retirement Committee elects the application of this clause for such preceding year, was in
the top-paid group of Employees for such preceding year.

For this purpose, an Employee is in the top-paid group of Employees for any year if such Employee is in the group
consisting of the top 20 percent of Employees when ranked on the basis of Earnings during the year.

In determining the Highly Compensated Employees of the Employers, the provisions of this section shall be applied in accordance
with the provisions of Code section 414(q) and related guidance, including in the discretion of the Retirement Committee (and
pursuant to the appropriate election) any method or election allowed under the Code.

(3) "Highly Compensated Former Employee" shall mean any Member who has terminated employment as an Employee in a
prior Plan Year and who was a Highly Compensated Employee either when he terminated employment as an Employee or any Plan
Year ending on or after his fifty-fifth birthday.

(b) Restrictions on Distributions. Notwithstanding any other provisions to the contrary, the annual benefits provided under the Plan for
participating Highly Compensated Employees and Highly Compensated Former Employees (as defined in Section 9.7(a)) who are among the 25
most highly paid Employees of an Employer are restricted to an amount equal to the annual payments that would be made on behalf of the
Member under a single life annuity that is the Actuarial Equivalent of the sum of such Member's Accrued Benefit and other benefits under the
Plan. In any one year, the total number of Members whose benefits are subject to the restriction under this Section 9.7(b) shall be limited to the
group of the 25 Highly Compensated Employees and Highly Compensated Former Employees who received the greatest Total Earnings. The
restrictions of this Section 9.7(b) shall not apply, however, if--

(1)  after payment to such Member of all benefits under the Plan, the value of Plan assets equals or exceeds 110 percent of the
value of the current liabilities (defined in Code section 412(1)(7)) of the Plan, or

(2) the value of the benefits payable to such Member is less than one percent of the value of the current liabilities (as defined in
Code section 412(1)(7)) of the Plan, or

(3) the Actuarial Equivalent present value of benefits payable to the Member is $5,000 or less.

9.8 Plan Participation by Associate Companies

(@) Adoption of the Plan. Any Affiliated Company, with the consent of the Company and by taking appropriate corporate action, may become
an Associate Company and secure the benefits of the Plan for its Employees by adopting the Plan and by executing the Trust Agreement. As a

condition to such Affiliated Company becoming an Associate Company, the Company may require such Affiliated Company to modify or amend

any pension plan
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which such Affiliated Company may then have so as to conform to the provisions of the Plan, or to limit Prior Service, as defined in Section 2.1(p)
(2), to service rendered for such corporation on and after a date to be determined by the Company. The Associate Company shall thereafter
promptly deliver to the Trustee a certified copy of the resolutions or other documents evidencing its adoption of the Plan and also a written
instrument showing the consent by the Company to such adoption.

(b) Withdrawal from the Plan. The Company may upon thirty (30) days written notice request an Associate Company to withdraw from the
Plan and upon the expiration of such thirty-day period, unless such Associate Company has taken the appropriate corporate action to accomplish
such withdrawal, such Associate Company shall be deemed to have withdrawn from the Plan. Any Employer may withdraw from the Plan by giving
the Retirement Committee thirty (30) days written notice of its intention to withdraw. In the event any Employer withdraws from the Plan, the
Retirement Committee shall thereupon determine, on the basis of actuarial valuation, that portion of the Trust Fund held on account of the
Employees of such Employer not yet retired. The Retirement Committee in its discretion shall direct the Trustee either (1) to continue to hold such
assets under the Plan on the date of such withdrawals; or (2) to deliver such assets to such trustee or trustees as shall be selected by such
withdrawing Employer; or (3) to use such assets to purchase an appropriate retirement annuity for each Employee of such withdrawing Employer
who was a Member on the date of such withdrawal.
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Article 10. Contributions

10.1 Employer Contributions

Each Employer shall make contributions from time to time in such amounts as are necessary to maintain the Plan on a sound actuarial basis and
to meet the minimum funding standards of Code section 412. However, an Employer may discontinue its contributions for any reason at any time.
Any forfeitures shall be used to reduce the amount of any Employer contributions otherwise payable for succeeding Plan Years and will not be
applied to increase the benefits any Member would otherwise receive under the Plan.

10.2 Reversion of Employer Contributions

(@) That portion of a contribution made by an Employer by a mistake of fact shall be returned to an Employer within one year after the payment
of the contribution.

(b)  An Employer's contributions to the Plan are conditioned upon their deductibility under Code section 404. That portion of a contribution made
by an Employer and disallowed by the Internal Revenue Service as a deduction under Code section 404 shall be returned to an Employer within
one year after the Internal Revenue Service disallows the deduction.

(c) Earnings attributable to the contributions to be returned under this section shall not be returned to an Employer and any losses attributable to
such contributions shall reduce the amount returned.

10.3 Rollover Contributions

The Trustee shall not accept a rollover contribution to the Plan on behalf of an Employee.
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Article 11. Administration of the Plan

11.1 Responsibility for Plan and Trust Administration

The Plan shall be administered by the Retirement Committee, which shall be appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company and shall be
responsible for the general administration of the Plan. However, the Retirement Committee shall have no responsibility for or control over the
investment of Plan assets. The investment of the assets of the Plan shall be managed by the Plan Assets Committee (the "Plan Assets
Committee"), which shall be appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company, except to the extent that such responsibility has been allocated
or delegated as hereinafter otherwise provided. The Retirement Committee and the Plan Assets Committee are each referred to as a "Committee"
in this Article 11. The Trustee shall be responsible for the management of the Plan's assets pursuant to the terms of the Trust Agreement. The
Board of Directors of the Company shall have the sole authority to appoint and remove any Trustee or any member of the Committee, and to
amend or terminate, in whole or in part the Plan or the Trust. The Company, through the Committee shall have the responsibility for the
administration of the Plan, which is specifically described in the Plan and the related Trust Agreement. Each of the Retirement Committee and the
Plan Assets Committee shall be a "named fiduciary" and the Retirement Committee shall be the "plan administrator," for purposes of the Code and
ERISA.

11.2 Operation of the Committees

Each Committee shall consist of at least three persons appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company. Members of the Committees may
resign at any time upon due notice in writing. The Board of Directors of the Company may remove any member of any Committee at any time, with
or without cause. Vacancies in each Committee shall be filled by the Board of Directors of the Company as soon as is reasonably possible after
the vacancy occurs. Until a new appointment is made, the remaining member or members of each Committee shall have full authority to act as
such Committee. Any member of a Committee may resign by delivering his written resignation to the Secretary of the Company (the "Secretary")
and the other members of the Committee. Any such resignation shall become effective upon its receipt by the Secretary or on any other date as is
agreed to by the chairman of the Committee and the resigning member. Each Committee shall act by a majority of its members at the time in
office, and such action may be taken either by vote at a meeting (including a telephone meeting) or by consent in writing without a meeting. Each
Committee shall hold meetings (including telephone meetings) upon such notice and at such times and places as it may from time to time
determine. Notice of a meeting need not be given to any member of a Committee who submits a signed waiver of notice before or after the
meeting or who attends a meeting (including a telephone meeting). Each Committee may adopt such rules and appoint such subcommittees as it
deems desirable for the conduct of its affairs and the administration of the Plan, and may appoint one of its members as its chairman. Each
Committee shall elect a Secretary, who need not be a member of the Committee, who shall record the minutes of its proceedings and shall
perform such other duties as may from time to time be assigned to him. Any person dealing with a Committee shall be entitled to rely upon a
certificate of any member of such Committee, or its secretary, as to any act or determination of the Committee. Each Committee may delegate
such duties or powers, as it deems necessary to carry out the administration of the Plan.
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The Secretary (or other authorized officer of the Company) shall certify to the Trustee the names and authorized signatures of the members of

each Committee and, as changes take place in membership, the names and signatures of new members. Each Committee may authorize one or
more of its respective members to execute any document or documents on its behalf, in which event the applicable Committee shall notify the



Trustee in writing of such action and the name or names of those so designated. The Trustee thereafter shall accept and rely conclusively upon
any direction or document executed by such member or members as representing action by the Committee until such time as the Committee shall
file with the Trustee a written revocation of such designation.

11.3 Powers and Duties of the Retirement Committee

The members of the Retirement Committee are hereby designated as "named fiduciaries," within the meaning of section 402(a) of ERISA, with
respect to the operation and administration of the Plan and, except to the extent otherwise provided herein, jointly shall administer the Plan in
accordance with its terms and shall have all powers necessary to carry out its duties hereunder. The Retirement Committee shall determine, in a
uniform and nondiscriminatory manner, all questions concerning the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan. Any such
determination by the Retirement Committee shall be conclusive and binding on all persons. In addition:

(A)  The Retirement Committee will determine the names of Members, surviving Spouses and Beneficiaries and the amounts that
are payable to them from the Trust Fund in accordance with the provisions of the Plan.

(B) The Retirement Committee shall keep in convenient form such data as shall be necessary for actuarial valuations of the
contingent assets and liabilities of the Plan and for checking the experience thereof.

(C) The Retirement Committee shall determine the manner in which the funds of the Plan shall be dispensed including the form of
voucher or waiver to be used in making disbursements and the due notification of persons authorized to approve and sign the same.

(D)  The Retirement Committee shall determine whether a judgment, decree or order, including approval of a property settlement
agreement, made pursuant to a state domestic relations law, including a community property law, that relates to the provision of
child support, alimony payments, or marital property rights of a Spouse, former Spouse, child, or other dependent of the Member is a
qualified domestic relations order within the meaning of Code section 414(p), and shall give the required notices and segregate any
amounts that may be subject to such order if it is a qualified domestic relations order, and shall administer the distributions required
by any such qualified domestic relations order.

(E) The Retirement Committee is authorized to make such rules and regulations as may be necessary to carry out the provisions
of the Plan and will determine any questions arising in the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan, which
determination shall be conclusive and binding on all parties. The Retirement Committee is also authorized to provide, on a
nondiscriminatory basis,
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for accelerated vesting and to purchase or arrange for payment of an appropriate annuity or any other form of payment or to permit
the immediate distribution of Plan benefits in those cases involving groups of Employees involuntarily terminated, including, but not
limited to, cases involving groups of Employees who involuntarily cease to render Creditable Service due to a liquidation, sale, or
other means of terminating the parent-subsidiary or controlled group relationship with an Employer or the sale or other transfer to a
third party of all or substantially all of the assets used by an Employer in a trade or business conducted by an Employer, when the
Retirement Committee determines that such action is appropriate to prevent inequities with respect to such Employees, and the
determination of the Committee in such matters shall be conclusive and binding on all parties. Further, the Retirement Committee,
upon the written request of the Company's Vice President-Organization and Human Resources, is authorized, with respect to a
Member of the Plan who has five or more years of Creditable Service and who is transferred to the purchaser of a portion of the
Company's operations, effective the day after the closing date of the sale, to grant additional Creditable Service and additional credit
for age under the Plan, on a nondiscriminatory basis, in each case up to one percent for each year of Creditable Service, and to
advance the date through which a Member's Earnings are calculated pursuant to Section 2.1(s) hereof, so as to prevent hardship
with respect to his participation in said purchaser's pension plan. The Retirement Committee is also authorized, with respect to a
Member (i) whose Accrued Benefit is attributable to the Cash Balance Formula and (ii) who has completed at least five years of
Creditable Service and (iii) who is transferred to the purchaser of a portion of the Company's operations, effective as of the day after
the closing date of the sale, to grant additional Annual Pay Credits and Interest Credits, on a nondiscriminatory basis, so as to
prevent hardship with respect to his participation in said purchaser's pension plan. The Retirement Committee is also authorized to
waive, either in whole or in part, the percentage reductions for early commencement of retirement benefits set forth in Section 4.2(b)
(2), on a nondiscriminatory basis, in those cases where groups of Employees have terminated employment either as a result of a
reduction in the work force or for similar economic reasons, and, the determination of the Retirement Committee shall be conclusive
and binding on all parties. The Retirement Committee is also authorized to adopt such rules and regulations as it may consider
necessary or desirable for the conduct of its affairs and the transaction of its business, including, but not limited to, the power on the
part of the Retirement Committee to act without formally convening and to provide that action of the Retirement Committee may be
expressed by written instrument signed by a majority of its members. The Retirement Committee may retain legal counsel (who may
be counsel for the Company) when and if it is found necessary to do so and may also employ such other assistants, clerical or
otherwise, as may be requisite, and expend such monies as may be requisite in their work. All of these expenses of the Retirement
Committee and the reasonable expenses of the Trustee in the administration of the trust as well as for actuarial services may be
paid out of the Trust Fund to the extent permissible under applicable law. In exercising such
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powers and authorities, the Retirement Committee shall at all times exercise good faith, apply standards of uniform application and
refrain from arbitrary action.

11.4 Duties of the Plan Assets Committee

(@) The Plan Assets Committee shall have exclusive authority and fiduciary responsibility under ERISA, (i) to appoint and remove
investment advisers, if any, under the Plan and the Trust Agreement, (ii) to direct the segregation of assets of the Trust Fund into an



investment adviser account or accounts at any time, and from time to time to add to or withdraw assets from such investment
adviser account or accounts as it deems desirable or appropriate and also to direct the Company's contribution or any portion thereof
into any of the accounts maintained under the Trust, (iii) to direct the Trustee to enter into an agreement or agreements with an
insurance company or companies designated by the Plan Assets Committee as provided in the Trust Agreement, (iv) to establish
investment guidelines for areas other than those set forth above and, within such guidelines, to direct the Trustee to purchase and
sell securities or to enter into one or more agreements with one or more companies, partnerships or joint ventures and to transfer
assets of the Trust Fund to such entities for purposes of investment therein; provided however, that, except as expressly set forth
above, the Plan Assets Committee shall have no responsibility for or control over the investment of the Plan assets held in the Trust
Fund established hereunder. In addition, the Plan Assets Committee shall receive the reports and recommendations of the actuary
designated by the Company concerning actuarial assumptions to be adopted on subjects including, but not limited to, Employee
turnover, rate of mortality, disability rate, ages at actual retirement, rate of pay increases, investment income and size of participant
group, and make such recommendations and determinations based upon such reports and recommendations as it may deem
necessary or appropriate. The Plan Assets Committee may appoint or employ such persons as it deems necessary to render advice
with respect to any responsibility of the Plan Assets Committee under the Plan. The Plan Assets Committee may allocate to any
one or more of its members any responsibility that it may have under the Plan and may designate any other person or persons to
carry out any responsibility of the Plan Assets Committee under the Plan. Any person may serve in more than one fiduciary capacity
with respect to the Plan. Members of the Plan Assets Committee may resign at any time upon due notice in writing. The Board of
Directors of the Company may remove any Plan Assets Committee members and appoint others in their places. The Plan Assets
Committee may act by a majority of its members.

(b) The Plan Assets Committee is authorized to make such rules and regulations as may be necessary to carry out its duties
under the Plan. The Plan Assets Committee is also authorized to adopt such rules and regulations as it may consider necessary or
desirable for the conduct of its affairs and the transaction of its business, including, but not limited to, the power on the part of the
Plan Assets Committee to act without formally convening and to provide that action of the Plan Assets Committee may be
expressed by written instrument signed by a majority of its members. The Plan Assets Committee may retain legal counsel (who
may be counsel for the Company) when and if it be found necessary to do so and may also
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employ such other assistants, clerical or otherwise, as may be requisite, and expend such monies as may be requisite in their work.
All of these expenses of the Plan Assets Committee as well as expenses for investment counseling may be paid out of the Trust
Fund to the extent permissible under applicable law.

The Retirement Committee may make such rules and regulations in connection with its administration of the Plan as are consistent with the terms
and provisions hereof.

11.5 Duties of the Trustee

The Trustee is hereby designated as a "named fiduciary", within the meaning of section 402(a) of ERISA, and shall possess all powers which may
be necessary to carry out its duties, as set forth in the Trust Agreement. In addition:

(@) The Trustee may, to the full extent permitted by law, establish procedures for the designation of persons other than named
fiduciaries to carry out its fiduciary responsibilities (other than trustee responsibilities) under the Plan. If the Trustee properly
allocates any fiduciary responsibility to another person or designates another person to carry out any of its responsibilities, the
Trustee shall not be liable for any act or omission of such person in carrying out such responsibility, except as provided in section
405(c) of ERISA.

(b) The Trustee shall act in accordance with any directions issued to it directly by the Plan Assets Committee (or if required by
the terms of the applicable Trust Agreement, indirectly by the Retirement Committee) with respect to the Trustee's exercise of any of
the powers conferred upon it by the Trust Agreement. Any direction to the Trustee shall be in writing and signed by the secretary or a
duly authorized member of the Plan Assets Committee. The Retirement Committee, the Employers, and the Company, and their
officers and directors, shall be entitled to rely upon all tables, valuations, certificates, and reports furnished by any enrolled actuary
selected by the Retirement Committee, upon all certificates and reports made by any accountant selected by the Retirement
Committee, the Company, or the Employers, and upon all opinions given by any legal counsel selected by the Retirement
Committee. The Retirement Committee, the Company, and the Employers and their officers and directors, shall be fully protected
with respect to any action taken or suffered by them in good faith in reliance upon any such actuary, accountant or counsel, and all
action so taken or suffered shall be conclusive upon all persons.

11.6 Standard of Duty

The members of the Retirement Committee and the Plan Assets Committee, as well as the Trustee, shall discharge their duties with respect to the
Plan solely in the interests of the Members and their Beneficiaries and in accordance with section 404 of ERISA.

11.7 Funding and Investment Policy

The Plan Assets Committee shall establish an investment policy and funding policy consistent with the objectives of the Plan and the
requirements of Title | of ERISA. The Plan Assets Committee shall at least annually review such policy and method. In establishing and reviewing
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such policy and method, the Plan Assets Committee shall endeavor to determine the Plan's short-term and long-term financial needs, taking into
account the need for liquidity to pay benefits and the need for investment growth. The general objective of the funding policy and method shall be



at all times to maintain a balance between safety in capital investment and investment return. All actions of the Plan Assets Committee taken to
carry out the purposes of this Section 11.7, and the reasons therefor, shall be recorded in the minutes of the Plan Assets Committee and shall be
made available to the Board and senior financial officers of the Company. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Retirement
Committee or the Plan Assets Committee may provide for the funding of the payment of any benefits prescribed by the Plan through the purchase
of immediate or deferred annuities, as the case may be, from any governmental agency or insurance company or companies, approved by the
Company.

11.8 Compensation and Expenses

The members of the Retirement Committee and the Plan Assets Committee shall serve without compensation for services as such. All expenses
of the Retirement Committee and the Plan Assets Committee that are properly allocable to the Plan shall be paid out of the Trust Fund, to the
extent permissible under applicable law, unless paid by the Company. Such expenses shall include any expenses incidental to the functioning of
the Retirement Committee and the Plan Assets Committee, including, but not limited to, fees of independent accountants, enrolled actuaries, legal
counsel, investment advisors and other specialists and other expenses.

11.9 Non-Liability and Indemnification

To the extent permitted by law, the Retirement Committee, the Plan Assets Committee, the Boards of Directors of the Employers, and the
Employers and their respective officers shall not be liable for the directions, actions or omissions of any agent, legal or other counsel, accountant
or any other expert who has agreed to the performance of administrative duties in connection with the Plan or Trust. The Committees, the Boards
of Directors of the Employers, and the Employers and their respective officers shall be entitled to rely upon all certificates, reports, data, statistics,
analyses and opinions which may be made by such experts and shall be fully protected in respect to any action taken or suffered by them in good
faith reliance upon any such certificates, reports, data, statistics, analyses or opinions; all action so taken or suffered shall be conclusive upon
each of them and upon all persons having or claiming to have any interest in or under the Plan.

Each member of each of the Retirement Committee, the Plan Assets Committee, and the Board of Directors, shall be indemnified by the Company
against all costs and expenses (including counsel fees but excluding any amount representing a settlement unless such settlement be approved
by the Board of Directors of the Company) reasonably incurred by or imposed upon him, in connection with or resulting from any action, suit or
proceeding, to which he may be made a party by reason of his being or having been a member of the Retirement Committee or the Plan Assets
Committee, as applicable (whether or not he continues to be a member of such Committee at the time when such cost or expense is incurred or
imposed), to the full extent permitted by law. The foregoing rights of indemnification shall not be exclusive of other rights to which any member of
the Retirement Committee or the Plan Assets Committee may be entitled as a matter of law.
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11.10 Claims Procedure

If an Employee, Member or Beneficiary ("Claimant") receives an adverse determination with respect to a claim for benefits which determination
results, wholly or partially, in the denial of benefits under the Plan, the Retirement Committee shall provide the Claimant with written notification or
electronic notification (in accordance with the requirements of Department of Labor Regulation section 2520.104b-1(c)(1)(i), (iii) and (iv)) of the
adverse determination with respect to the claim within a reasonable period of time, but not later than 90 days after the claim has been received by
the Plan; provided, however, that, in the event of special circumstances, such period may be extended beyond the initial 90-day period but not
later than 180 days after the claim has been received by the Plan. In the event of such an extension, the Claimant shall be notified in writing of the
extension prior to the expiration of the initial 90-day period. Such notification shall explain the special circumstances requiring the extension and
indicate the date by which the Plan expects to render a determination with respect to the claim.

The notification of the adverse determination with respect to a claim provided to the Claimant shall set forth the following:
(a) the specific reason or reasons for the adverse determination;
(b) reference to the specific Plan provisions on which the adverse determination is based;

(c) adescription of any material or information necessary for the Claimant to perfect the claim and an explanation of why such
material or information is necessary;

(d) appropriate information as to the steps to be taken if the Claimant wishes to submit the claim for review, including any time
limits applicable with respect to such steps; and

(e) a statement of the Claimant's right to bring a civil action under section 502(a) of ERISA following the adverse determination
with respect to the claim.

Any request for a review must be made in writing to the Retirement Committee within 60 days of the date the Retirement Committee notifies the
Claimant of the adverse determination with respect to the claim. Upon receipt by the Plan of the request for review, the claim will be reviewed by
the Retirement Committee. A Claimant's request for a review must be given a full and fair review by the Retirement Committee. In connection with
such request, the Claimant, or his duly authorized representative, may:

(1)  upon request and free of charge, have reasonable access to all documents, records and other information that is relevant
(within the meaning of Department of Labor Regulation section 2560.503-1(m)(8)) to the claim; and

(2) submit written comments, documents, records and other information relating to the claim.

The review of the claim by the Retirement Committee shall take into account all
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comments, documents, records and other information submitted by the Claimant relating to the claim, without regard to whether such information
was submitted or considered in the initial determination.

If the Retirement Committee deems it appropriate, it may hold a hearing with respect to a claim. If a hearing is held, the Claimant shall be entitled
to be represented by counsel. The determination of the Retirement Committee shall be made within a reasonable period of time, but not later than
60 days after receipt by the Plan of the request for review, unless special circumstances (such as the need to hold a hearing) require an extension
of time, in which event such determination shall be rendered not later than 120 days after receipt by the Plan of the request for review. If such an
extension is required, written notification of the extension shall be furnished to the Claimant prior to the expiration of the initial 60-day period. Such
notification shall explain the special circumstances requiring the extension and indicate the date by which the Plan expects to render a
determination with respect to the review of the claim.

The Retirement Committee shall provide the Claimant with written notification or electronic notification (in accordance with the requirements of
Department of Labor Regulation section 2520.104b-1(c)(1)(i), (iii) and (iv)) of its determination with respect to its review of the claim. If the adverse
determination with respect to the claim is upheld by the Retirement Committee, the notification shall set forth:

(A) the specific reason or reasons for the adverse determination;
(B) reference to the specific Plan provisions on which the adverse determination is based;

(C) a statement that the Claimant is entitled to receive upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of, all
documents, records and other information relevant (within the meaning of Department of Labor Regulation section 2560.503-1(m)(8))
to the adverse determination with respect to the claim; and

(D) a statement of the Claimant's right to bring a civil action under section 502(a) of ERISA following the adverse determination
with respect to the claim.

All interpretations, determinations and decisions of the Retirement Committee with respect to any claim shall be made by the Retirement
Committee in its sole discretion based on the Plan and documents presented to it and shall be final, conclusive and binding.
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Article 12. Trust Arrangements

12.1 Appointment of Trustee

A Trustee for the Plan shall be appointed from time to time by the Board of Directors of the Company and, upon acceptance thereof, the Trustee
shall perform the duties and exercise the authority of the Trustee as set forth in the Plan and in the Trust Agreement.

12.2 Removal of Trustee; Appointment of Other Trustee

The Board of Directors of the Company reserves the right to remove the Trustee at any time and to appoint a successor Trustee.

12.3 Change in Trust Agreements

The Board of Directors of the Company may from time to time enter into such further agreements with a Trustee or other parties and make such
amendments to Trust Agreements as it may deem necessary or desirable to carry out the Plan; and may take such other steps and execute such
other instruments as may be deemed necessary or desirable to put the Plan into effect or to carry it out.
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Article 13. Top-Heavy Plan Provisions

13.1 General Rule

In the event that the Plan is top-heavy, or is a member of a top-heavy group, with respect to any Plan Year the provisions of Sections 13.4 through
13.7 shall apply.

13.2 When Plan is Top-Heavy

The Plan shall be top-heavy for a Plan Year if as of the Applicable Determination Date (as defined in Section 13.7(a)), the present value of the
cumulative Accrued Benefits under the Plan for Key Employees (as defined in Section 13.7(b)) exceeds 60 percent of the cumulative Accrued
Benefits under the Plan for all Employees (other than former Key Employees) under the Plan. Such amounts shall include the value of any
distributions made with respect to an Employee during the five-year period ending on the Applicable Determination Date. The Accrued Benefits of
individuals who have not performed services for an Employer or the Affiliates at any time during the five-year period ending on the Applicable
Determination Date shall not be taken into account. The determination of the foregoing ratio shall be made in accordance with Code section 416(g),



which is incorporated herein by this reference. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Plan shall not be top-heavy if it is part of any aggregation group
of plans, as defined in Section 13.3(a), that is not a top-heavy group.

13.3 When Plan is in Top-Heavy Group

A plan is a member of a top-heavy group with respect to a Plan Year if as of the Applicable Determination Date (as defined in Section 13.8(a)), it is
part of a "required aggregation group" of plans which is top-heavy. For purposes of this Article-

(@)  An "aggregation group of plans" shall consist of a "required aggregation group" of plans that shall include each plan qualified under Code
section 401(a) which is maintained by an Employer or an Affiliate and (1) in which a Key Employee (as defined in Section 13.7(b)) is a participant
in the Plan Year that contains the Applicable Determination Date, or any of the four preceding Plan Years, or (2) which enables any other plan in
which a Key Employee is a participant to meet the requirements of Code section 401(a)(4) or 410. In addition, at the election of the Retirement
Committee, an aggregation group of plans may be expanded to include the "permissive aggregation group." "Permissive aggregation group"
consists of the plans of an Employer or an Affiliate that are required to be aggregated, plus one or more plans of an Employer that are not part of a
required aggregation group but that satisfy the requirements of Code sections 401(a)(4) and 410 when considered with the required aggregation
group; and

(b) an aggregation group of plans shall be a "top-heavy group" with respect to a Plan Year if as of the Applicable Determination Date, the sum
of--

(1) the present value of the cumulative Accrued Benefits for Key Employees under all defined benefit plans included in such
group, and

(2) the aggregate of the accounts of Key Employees under all defined contribution plans included in such group exceeds 60
percent of a similar sum determined for all Employees (other than former Key Employees) covered under the aggregation
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group of plans. Cumulative Accrued Benefits and account balances shall be adjusted for any distribution made in the one-year period
ending on the Applicable Determination Date and any contribution due but unpaid as of said Applicable Determination Date; provided,
however, that in the case of a distribution made to a Member for a reason other than separation from service, death or Disability, this
provision shall be applied by substituting "five-year period" for "one-year period." Account balances and Accrued Benefits of
individuals who have not performed services for an Employer or any Affiliates at any time during the one-year period ending on the
Applicable Determination Date shall not be taken into account. The determination of the foregoing ratio, including the extent to which
distributions (including distributions from terminated plans), rollovers, and transfers are taken into account, shall be made in
accordance with Code section 416 and the regulations thereunder.

13.4 Minimum Benefit

(@) Notwithstanding any other section of the Plan to the contrary, each Member who is not a Key Employee (as defined in Section 13.7(b)) shall
accrue a Normal Retirement Benefit for each year that shall not be less than two percent of the Member's average Limitation Earnings (as defined
in Section 13.6) for the five consecutive Plan Years for which such Limitation Earnings was the highest. The accrual under this section shall be
determined without regard to any Social Security contribution or other Plan provisions for integration with Social Security.

(b)  No additional benefit accruals shall be provided under Section 13.4(a) once the total annual benefit payable under the Plan in the form of a
Single Life Annuity at age 65 equals or exceeds 20 percent of the Member's highest average Limitation Earnings (as defined in Section 13.6) for
the five consecutive years for which such Limitation Earnings was the highest.

(c) If a Member who is not a Key Employee (as defined in Section 13.7(b)) is also a participant under one or more defined contribution plans in
an aggregation group of plans maintained by an Employer in any Plan Year in which the Plan is top-heavy, the minimum benefit credited to such
Member in accordance with Section 13.4(a) shall be offset by the Actuarial Equivalent of the value of an Employer's contributions to such defined
contribution plan or plans on the Non-Key Employee's behalf. Such actuarial equivalent shall be calculated using all accruals derived from
Employer contributions, whether or not attributable to years in which the Plan is top-heavy and may be used in determining whether the minimum
accrued benefit requirements for a Non-Key Employee has been satisfied.

13.5 Accelerated Vesting

(@) For each Plan Year for which the Plan is top-heavy, or is a member of a top-heavy group, the provisions of Section 4.2(a) shall be changed
to provide for vesting of a Member's Accrued Benefit in accordance with the following schedule:

55

Completed Years of
Creditable Service Vested Percentage

Less than 2 years 0%



2 years but less than 3 40%
years

3 years but less than 4 60%
years

4 years butless than 5 80%
years

5 years or more 100%

Notwithstanding the foregoing, this subsection (a) shall not apply to the Accrued Benefit of any Member who is not credited with an Hour of
Service while the Plan is top-heavy.

(b) InaPlan Year in which the Plan is no longer top-heavy or a member of a top-heavy group, the vesting provisions contained in Section 4.2(a)
shall be restored. Notwithstanding such restoration, the provisions of Section 4.2(a), as modified by Section 14.5(a) above, shall continue to apply
in the case of a Member with three or more Years of Creditable Service at the time of such restoration.

13.6 Limitation on Earnings

In determining a Member's benefits for a Plan Year with respect to which the Plan is top-heavy or is a member of a top-heavy group, the maximum
amount of Limitation Earnings for each year taken into account to determine Plan benefits with respect to such Plan Year shall be the applicable
dollar amount limitation set forth in Section 2.1(s)(3).

13.7 Definitions

For purposes of this Article 13-

(a) "Applicable Determination Date" shall mean, with respect to the Plan, the determination date for the Plan Year of reference and, with
respect to any other plan, the determination date for any plan year of such plan which falls within such calendar year as of the Applicable
Determination Date of the Plan. For purposes of this subsection, the term "determination date" shall mean, with respect to the initial plan year of a
plan, the last day of such plan year and, with respect to any other plan year of a plan, the last day of the preceding plan year of such plan. The
present value of an Accrued Benefit shall be determined as of the most recent valuation date, used for purposes of Code section 412, which is
within the 12-month period ending on the Applicable Determination Date.

(b) "Key Employee" shall mean a Member, former Member, or a beneficiary as described in Code section 416(i)(1). Where an individual's
compensation is a factor in determining whether he is a Key Employee, Total Earnings (as defined in Section 9.7(a)(1)) shall be used.
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Article 14. Miscellaneous

14.1 No Employment Rights Created

Neither the establishment nor the continuation of the Plan, nor anything contained within the Plan, shall be deemed to give any person the right to
continued employment by an Employer or its Affiliates, or to affect the right of an Employer or its Affiliates to terminate the employment of any
individual.

14.2 Rights to Trust Assets

No Employee or Beneficiary shall have any right to, or interest in, any assets of the Trust Fund upon termination of his employment or otherwise,
except as specifically provided under the Plan, and then only to the extent of the benefits payable under the Plan to such Employee or Beneficiary
out of the assets of the Trust Fund. All payments of benefits as provided for in the Plan shall be made solely out of assets of the Trust Fund and
neither the Company, an Employer, the Affiliates, nor any fiduciary of the Plan shall be liable therefor in any manner.

14.3 Nonalienation of Benefits

Except to the extent permissible under applicable law, benefits payable under the Plan shall not be subject in any manner to anticipation,
alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, charge, garnishment, execution, or levy of any kind, either voluntary or involuntary,
including any such liability which is for alimony or other payments for the support of a Spouse or former Spouse, or for any other relative of the
Employee, prior to actually being received by the person entitled to the benefit under the terms of the Plan; and any attempt to anticipate, alienate,
sell, transfer, assign, pledge, encumber, charge, or otherwise dispose of any right to benefits payable hereunder, shall be void. The Trust Fund
shall not in any manner be liable for, or subject to, the debts, contracts, liabilities, engagements, or torts of any person entitled to benefits
hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Member's benefits under the Plan may be offset against any amount that the Member is ordered or
required to pay to the Plan due to a fiduciary breach or other misconduct effective for judgments or settlement agreements made on or after
August 5, 1997, as determined in accordance with the requirements of section 206(d)(4) of ERISA, as amended.



The preceding paragraph shall also apply to the creation, assignment, or recognition of a right to any interest or benefit payable with respect to a
Member pursuant to a domestic relations order, unless such order is determined to be a qualified domestic relations order (as defined in Code
section 414(p)). The Retirement Committee shall establish reasonable procedures to determine the qualified status of domestic relations orders
and to administer distributions under such qualified orders. Any other provision of the Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, if the amount payable
to an alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order is less than or equal to $5,000, such amount shall be paid as soon as practicable
following the qualification of the order. If such amount exceeds $5,000, it shall not be payable prior to the Member's "earliest retirement age"
(within the meaning of Code section 414(p)(4)(B)).
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14.4 Expenses

To the extent permissible under applicable law, all reasonable expenses of the Plan and Trust Fund shall be paid by, and constitute a charge upon,
the Trust Fund, except to the extent that such expenses may have been paid by an Employer in its sole and absolute discretion. Such expenses
shall include any expenses incident to the functioning of the Plan, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees and the compensation of actuaries
and other agents, accounting and clerical charges, expenses, if any, of being bonded as required by ERISA, the premiums of plan termination
insurance purchased from the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation, and any other costs of administering the Plan.

14.5 Severability

In the event that any provision of the Plan is held invalid or illegal for any reason, such invalidity or illegality shall not affect the remaining parts of
the Plan and the Plan shall be enforced and construed as if such provision had never been inserted herein.

14.6 Governing State

The Plan shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York except where such laws have been preempted by ERISA or
other laws of the United States.

14.7 Facility of Payment

If the Retirement Committee shall find that any person to whom a benefit is payable from the Trust Fund is unable to care for his affairs because
of iliness or accident, any payments due (unless a prior claim therefor shall have been made by a duly appointed guardian, committee, or other
legal representative) may be paid to the recipient's Spouse, child, parent, brother or sister, or to any person deemed by the Retirement Committee
to have incurred expense for such person otherwise entitled to payment. Any such payment shall be a complete discharge of any liability under the
Plan therefor.

14.8 Missing Persons

If the Retirement Committee is unable to locate a proper payee within one year after a benefit becomes payable, the Retirement Committee may
treat the benefit as a forfeiture; however, if a claim for benefits is subsequently presented by a person entitled to a payment, the forfeited amount
shall be recredited upon verification of the claim, except for those amounts that have been paid pursuant to an escheat or other applicable law.

14.9 Titles

The titles of sections are included only for convenience of reference and shall not be construed as part of the Plan or in any respect affecting or
modifying its provisions.
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SCHEDULE A

Groups or classes eligible for participation in the Minerals Technologies Inc. Retirement Plan (except in each case employees covered by a
collective bargaining agreement that does not provide for coverage of such employees under the Plan, if there is evidence that retirement benefits
were the subject of good faith bargaining):

1. All employees in the service of Minerals Technologies Inc.
2. All employees in the service of the following Associate Companies:

Barretts Minerals Inc.

Specialty Minerals Inc.

MINTEQ International Inc.
Specialty Minerals (Michigan) Inc.
Specialty Minerals Mississippi Inc.
Synsil Products Inc.
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SCHEDULE B
Early Retirement Table

The following table sets forth the percentages which will apply at the ages indicated in the computation of early retirement benefits pursuant to
Section 4.2(b)(2)(A):

Age Percentage
65 100
64 96
63 92
62 88
61 84
60 80
59 76
58 72
57 68
56 64
55 60
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SCHEDULE C
Alternate Early Retirement Table

The following table sets forth the percentages which will apply at the ages indicated in the computation of early retirement benefits pursuant to
Section 4.2(b)(2)(B):

Minimum Years

Age of Service Percentage
64 26 100
63 27 100
62 28 100
61 29 100
60 30 100

59 31 96



58 32 92

57 33 88
56 34 84
55 35 80
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SCHEDULE D
Vested Benefit Table

The following table sets forth the percentages which will apply at the ages indicated in the computation of vested benefits pursuant to Section
4.2(b)(2)(C):

Age That Annuity Percentage of

Payments Vested Annuity
Commence

65+ 100%
64 94

63 88

62 82

61 76

60 70

59 64

58 58

57 52

56 46

55 40
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SCHEDULE E
Other Company Service
A Member's Creditable Service pursuant to Section 2.1(p)(5) shall include service with the following employers as provided herein.

(1)  Service With Zedmark Refractories Corporation and/or Zedmark Inc. Creditable Service, for purposes of vesting pursuant to Section
4.2(a), shall include each full year of service for the period during which a Member was employed by Zedmark Refractories Corporation and/or
Zedmark, Inc. prior to October 3, 1989, except if such Member was covered at such time by a collective bargaining agreement that did not provide
for coverage of such Member under the Pfizer Plan. Creditable Service for purposes of benefit accrual under the Career Earnings Formula shall
include each full year of service for the period during which a Member was employed by Zedmark Refractories Corporation and/or Zedmark, Inc.
prior to October 3, 1989, provided such number of full years of service may not exceed the number of full years of service the Member is



employed by the Company after October 3, 1989; and provided, further, such Member was not covered, on October 3, 1989, by a collective
bargaining agreement that did not provide for coverage of such Member under the Pfizer Plan.

(2) Service With Nalco Chemical Company. Creditable Service, for purposes of vesting under Section 4.2(a) and eligibility for early retirement
under Section 4.2(b)(2)(A) and (B) shall include each full year of service for the period during which a Member was employed by Nalco Chemical
Company prior to June 1, 1988, if such Member was a transferred employee, as such term is defined in the Purchase Agreement dated June 1,
1988, between Quigley Company, Inc. and Pfizer Inc., as purchasers and Nalco Chemical Company, as seller.

(3) Service With Martin Marietta Magnesia Specialties, Inc. With respect to Members who were employees of Martin Marietta Magnesia
Specialties, Inc. on April 30, 2001, who became Employees on May 1, 2001, Creditable Service, for purposes of vesting under Section 4.2(a) and
eligibility for early retirement under Section 4.2(b)(2) shall include each full year of service for the period during which a Member was employed by
Martin Marietta Magnesia Specialties, Inc. prior to May 1, 2001; provided such Member was not covered, on April 30, 2001, by the terms of a
collective bargaining agreement of which Martin Marietta Magnesia Specialties, Inc. was a party.
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EXHIBIT 15

ACCOUNTANTS' ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Board of Directors
Minerals Technologies Inc.:

Re: Registration Statement Nos. 33-59080, 33-65268, 33-96558 and 333-62739

With respect to the subject registration statements, we acknowledge our awareness of the use therein of our report dated July 18, 2002,
related to our review of interim financial information.

Pursuant to Rule 436(c) under the Securities Act of 1933, such report is not considered a part of a registration statement prepared or certified
by an accountant or a report prepared or certified by an accountant within the meaning of sections 7 and 11 of the Act.

Very truly yours,

KPMG LLP

New York, New York
August 13, 2002



EXHIBIT 99

CAUTIONARY FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

The disclosure and analysis set forth in this report contains certain forward-looking statements, particularly statements relating to future
actions, future performance or results of current and anticipated products, sales efforts, expenditures, and financial results. From time to time, the
Company also provides forward-looking statements in other publicly-released materials, both written and oral. Forward-looking statements provide
current expectations and forecasts of future events such as new products, revenues and financial performance, and are not limited to describing
historical or current facts. They can be identified by the use of words such as "expects," "plans," "anticipates," "will" and other words and phrases
of similar meaning.

Forward-looking statements are necessarily based on assumptions, estimates and limited information available at the time they are made. A
broad variety of risks and uncertainties, both known and unknown, as well as the inaccuracy of assumptions and estimates, can affect the
realization of the expectations or forecasts in these statements. Consequently, no forward-looking statement can be guaranteed. Actual future
results may vary materially.

The Company undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statements. Investors should refer to the Company's subsequent filings
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 for further disclosures.

As permitted by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, the Company is providing the following cautionary statements which
identify factors that could cause the Company's actual results to differ materially from historical and expected results. It is not possible to foresee
or identify all such factors. Investors should not consider this list an exhaustive statement of all risks, uncertainties and potentially inaccurate
assumptions.

e Historical Growth Rate
Continuance of the historical growth rate of the Company depends upon a number of uncertain events, including the outcome of the
Company's strategies of increasing its penetration into geographic markets such as Asia and Europe; increasing its penetration into product
markets such as the market for paper coating pigments and the market for groundwood paper pigments; increasing sales to existing PCC
customers by increasing the amount of PCC used per ton of paper produced; and developing, introducing and selling new products.
Difficulties, delays or failures of any of these strategies could cause the future growth rate of the Company to differ materially from its
historical growth rate.

e Contract Renewals
The Company's sales of PCC are predominantly pursuant to long-term agreements, generally ten years in length, with paper mills at which
the Company operates satellite PCC plants. The terms of many of these agreements have been extended, often in connection with an
expansion of the satellite plant. Failure of a number of the Company's customers to renew existing agreements on terms as favorable to the
Company as those currently in effect could cause the future growth rate of the Company to differ materially from its historical growth rate,
could have a substantial adverse effect on the Company's results of operations, and could also result in impairment of the assets
associated with the PCC plant.

The Company's largest customer, International Paper Company, has informed the Company that it intends to begin negotiations with
alternative suppliers at one satellite location at which the contract has expired, and that while it will honor all existing satellite
contracts, it expects to negotiate with other suppliers at other satellite locations as the contracts for those locations expire over the
next several years, with the last contract expiring in 2010. That decision by IP increases the risk that some or all of these contracts
will not be renewed. The loss of a substantial amount of the Company's sales to IP would have a material effect on the Company's
results of operations and projected growth rate; however, because these contracts have various remaining terms, the full impact
would not be felt for several years.

e Consolidation in Paper Industry
Several consolidations in the paper industry have taken place in recent years. These consolidations could result in partial or total closure of
some paper mills at which MTI operates PCC satellites. Such closures would reduce MTI's sales of PCC, except to the extent that they
resulted in shifting paper production and associated purchases of PCC to another location served by MTI. There can be no assurance,
however, that this will occur. In addition, such consolidations concentrate purchasing power in the hands of a smaller number of
papermakers, enabling them to increase pressure on suppliers, such as MTI. This increased pressure could have an adverse effect on
MTI's results of operations in the future.

e Litigation; Environmental Exposures
The Company's operations are subject to international, federal, state and local governmental, tax and other laws and regulations, and
potentially to claims for various legal, environmental and tax matters. The Company is currently a party to various litigation matters. While



the Company carries liability insurance which it believes to be appropriate to its businesses, and has provided reserves for such matters
which it believes to be adequate, an unanticipated liability arising out of such a litigation matter or a tax or environmental proceeding could
have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition or results of operations.

New Products

The Company is engaged in a continuous effort to develop new products and processes in all of its product lines. Difficulties, delays or
failures in the development, testing, production, marketing or sale of such new products could cause actual results of operations to differ
materially from expected results.

Competition; Protection of Intellectual Property

Particularly in its PCC and Refractory product lines, the Company's ability to compete is based in part upon proprietary knowledge, both
patented and unpatented. The Company's ability to achieve anticipated results depends in part on its ability to defend its intellectual
property against inappropriate disclosure as well as against infringement. In addition, development by the Company's competitors of new
products or technologies that are more effective or less expensive than those the Company offers could have a material adverse effect on
the Company's financial condition or results of operations.

Risks of Doing Business Abroad

As the Company expands its operations overseas, it faces the increased risks of doing business abroad, including inflation, fluctuation in
interest rates and currency exchange rates, changes in applicable laws and regulatory requirements, export and import restrictions, tariffs,
nationalization, expropriation, limits on repatriation of funds, civil unrest, terrorism, unstable governments and legal systems, and other
factors. Adverse developments in any of these areas could cause actual results to differ materially from historical and expected results.

Availability of Raw Materials

The Company's ability to achieve anticipated results depends in part on having an adequate supply of raw materials for its manufacturing
operations, particularly lime and carbon dioxide for PCC operations and magnesia for refractory operations, and on having adequate access
to the ore reserves at its mining operations. Unanticipated changes in the costs or availability of such raw materials, or in the Company's
ability to have access to its ore reserves, could adversely affect the Company's results of operations.

Cyclical Nature of Customers' Businesses

The bulk of the Company's sales are to customers in two industries, paper manufacturing and steel manufacturing, which have historically
been cyclical. The Company's exposure to variations in its customers' businesses has been reduced in recent years by the growth in the
number of plants its operates; by the diversification of its portfolio of products and services; and by its geographic expansion. Also, the
Company has structured some of its long-term satellite PCC contracts to provide a degree of protection against declines in the quantity of
product purchased, since the price per ton of PCC generally rises as the number of tons purchased declines. In addition, many of the
Company's product lines lower its customers' costs of production or increase their productivity, which should encourage them to use its
products. However, a sustained economic downturn in one or more of the industries or geographic regions that the Company serves, or in
the worldwide economy, could cause actual results of operations to differ materially from historical and expected results.
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